
 
Agenda compiled by: 
John Grieve 
Governance Services 
Civic Hall 
Tel: 0113 37 88662 
 

 
 

 
 

  Produced on Recycled Paper 

 

 

 

 

CITY PLANS PANEL 
 

 
Meeting to be held remotely via Skype on 

Thursday, 21st May, 2020 at 1.30 pm 

 
MEMBERSHIP 

 
D Blackburn 
C Campbell 

P Carlill 
D Cohen 

A Garthwaite 
C Gruen 
A Khan 

J McKenna (Chair) 
E Nash 

P Wadsworth 
N Walshaw 

G Latty 
P Gruen 

  
To remotely observe this meeting, please click on the ‘View the Webcast’ link which will 
feature on the meeting’s webpage (linked below) ahead of the meeting. The webcast will 
become available at the commencement of the meeting.  
 
https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=947&MId=9973&Ver=4  

 

Public Document Pack

https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=947&MId=9973&Ver=4


 

 

A G E N D A 
 
 

Item 
No 

Ward Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

1   
 

  APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION 
OF DOCUMENTS 
 
 
To consider any appeals in accordance with 
Procedure Rule 15.2 of the Access to Information 
Rules (in the event of an Appeal the press and 
public will be excluded) 
 
(*In accordance with Procedure Rule 15.2, written 
notice of an appeal must be received by the Head 
of Governance Services at least 24 hours before 
the meeting) 
 

 

2   
 

  EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE 
EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
1 To highlight reports or appendices which 

officers have identified as containing exempt 
information, and where officers consider that 
the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information, for the reasons 
outlined in the report. 

 
2 To consider whether or not to accept the 

officers recommendation in respect of the 
above information. 

 
3 If so, to formally pass the following 

resolution:- 
 
 RESOLVED – That the press and public be 

excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following parts of the 
agenda designated as containing exempt 
information on the grounds that it is likely, in 
view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, 
that if members of the press and public were 
present there would be disclosure to them of 
exempt information, as follows:- 

 
  
 

 



 

 

Item 
No 

Ward Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

3   
 

  LATE ITEMS 
 
 
To identify items which have been admitted to the 
agenda by the Chair for consideration 
 
(The special circumstances shall be specified in 
the minutes) 
 

 

4   
 

  DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE 
PECUNIARY INTERESTS 
 
 
To disclose or draw attention to any disclosable 
pecuniary interests for the purposes of Section 31 
of the Localism Act 2011 and paragraphs 13-16 of 
the Members’ Code of Conduct.   
 

 

5   
 

  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
To receive apologies for absence (If any) 
 

 

6   
 

  MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
 
To consider and approve the minutes of the 
previous meeting held on 12th March 2020. 
 
 
(Copy attached) 
 

7 - 22 

7   
 

  MATTERS ARISING FROM THE PREVIOUS 
MEETING 
 
To consider any matters arising from the previous 
meeting. 
 

 



 

 

Item 
No 

Ward Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

8   
 

Ardsley and 
Robin Hood; 
Morley South 

 APPLICATION NO.17/08262/OT - OUTLINE 
PLANNING APPLICATION FOR A RESIDENTIAL 
DEVELOPMENT WITH ALL MATTERS 
RESERVED SAVE FOR THE TWO PRINCIPLE 
ACCESSES OFF WESTERTON ROAD AND 
HAIGH MOOR ROAD, (BUT NOT TO INCLUDE 
ACCESS WITHIN THE SITE), THREE POINTS 
OF ACCESS AT UPPER GREEN AVENUE, 
SANDRINGHAM DRIVE AND HILL TOP LANE, 
ASSOCIATED WORKS, PUBLIC OPEN SPACE 
PROVISION AND ACCESSIBILITY AND 
QUALITATIVE IMPROVEMENTS TO LOCAL 
GREENSPACE AT LAND OFF HAIGH MOOR 
ROAD AND WESTERTON ROAD, WEST 
ARDSLEY, LEEDS, WF3. 
 
To consider a report by the Chief Planning Officer 
which sets out details of an outline application for a 
residential development with all matters reserved 
save for the two principle accesses off Westerton 
Road and Haigh Moor Road, (but not to include 
access within the site), three points of access at 
Upper Green Avenue, Sandringham Drive and Hill 
Top Lane, associated works, public open space 
provision and accessibility and qualitative 
improvements to local greenspace at land off 
Haigh Moor Road and Westerton Road, West 
Ardsley, Leeds, WF3. 
 
 
(Report attached) 
 

23 - 
66 

9   
 

  DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING 
 
The date and time of next meeting to be 
announced at a later date.  
 

 

 

     

2      

     

    
 

 

a)      

b)      

     



 

 

Item 
No 

Ward Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

Third Party Recording  
 
Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable those not present to see or hear the proceedings either as they take place (or later) and 
to enable the reporting of those proceedings.  A copy of the recording protocol is available from the contacts named on the front of this 
agenda. 
 
Use of Recordings by Third Parties– code of practice 
 

a) Any published recording should be accompanied by a statement of when and where the recording was made, the context of 
the discussion that took place, and a clear identification of the main speakers and their role or title. 

b) Those making recordings must not edit the recording in a way that could lead to misinterpretation or misrepresentation of the 
proceedings or comments made by attendees.  In particular there should be no internal editing of published extracts; 
recordings may start at any point and end at any point but the material between those points must be complete. 



This page is intentionally left blank



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Thursday, 23rd April, 2020 

 

CITY PLANS PANEL 
 

THURSDAY, 12TH MARCH, 2020 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor  in the Chair 

 Councillors D Blackburn, C Campbell, 
P Carlill, D Cohen, A Garthwaite, C Gruen, 
E Nash, P Wadsworth, N Walshaw, 
G Latty, P Gruen, K Ritchie and K Brooks 

 
 
 
Plans Panel Members carried out site visits in respect of the following:  
PREAPP/19/00477 – Proposed residential development and ancillary 
commercial uses at former Arla Foods Site, Kirkstall Road, Leeds and 
PREAPP/19/00543 – Proposed student residential development and 
education facility at Brotherton House, Westgate, Leeds and was attended by 
the following Councillors: D Blackburn, K Brooks, C Campbell, G Latty,  
E Nash, P Wadsworth and N Walshaw. 
 

128 Election of Chair  
 

In the absence of Councillor J McKenna, Councillor C Gruen was elected 
Chair for the duration of the meeting. 
 

129 Appeals Against Refusal of Inspection of Documents  
 

There were no appeals against the refusal of inspection of documents. 
 

130 Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of Press and Public  
 

There were no items identified where it was considered necessary to exclude 
the press or public from the meeting due to the confidential nature of the 
business to be considered. 
 

131 Late Items  
 

Although there were no late items the Chair did accept the inclusion of 
Supplementary Information in respect of Agenda Item Nos. 9 &11 – 
(Application No.19/01666/FU – Mixed use development to land at Kirkstall 
Hill, Kirkstall, Leeds 5 – Viability Appraisal – Minute No. 136 referred) and 
(PREAPP/9/00543 – Conversion and extension of existing building to student 
housing and educational facilities at Brotherton House, Westgate, Leeds 1 – 
Minute No.138 referred). Members were informed that in both instances the 
supplementary information was not available at the time of agenda 
publication/ circulation and it was in the best interests of the Council and other 
parties concerned that the new information be considered without delay. 
 

132 Declarations of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests  

Page 7

Agenda Item 6



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Thursday, 23rd April, 2020 

 

 
There were no declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests made at the 
meeting. 
 

133 Apologies for Absence  
 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors A Khan and J 
McKenna 
 
Councillors: K Brooks and K Ritchie were in attendance as substitute 
Members. 
 

134 Minutes of the Previous Meeting  
 

The minutes of the previous meeting held on 20th February 2020 were 
submitted for comment/ approval. 
 
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 20th February 
2020 be accepted as a true and correct record. 
 

135 Matters Arising from the Minutes  
 

There were no issues raised under matters arising. 
 

136 Application No. 18/07433/FU - Erection of 437 dwellings with new roads, 
open space, landscaping, drainage and associated works at Radial Park, 
Manston Lane, Leeds, LS15 8ST  

 
With reference to the meeting of 6th January 2020 and the decision to defer 
consideration to allow further discussions/negotiations with the applicant 
concerning: Alternative design solutions of the house types; an increase in the 
provision of photovoltaic cells or adaptability of properties to incorporate cells 
at a later point, accessible housing provision, unresolved highway issues, 
incorporation of additional elements linking the development to its former use 
(and heritage significance of the same). 
 
The Chief Planning Officer now submitted a report indicating that the scheme 
had been subsequently revised and overall the proposal was in accordance 
with the Development Plan. 
 
Site photographs and plans were displayed and referred to throughout the 
discussion of the application.  
 
Planning Officers addressed the Panel, speaking in detail about the proposal 
and highlighted the following: 
 

 Site/ location/context 

 Masterplan 

 Provision of accessible housing 

 Design and Character/ Heritage 

Page 8



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Thursday, 23rd April, 2020 

 

 Sustainability – Provision of solar panels 

 The development was in accordance with Strategic Policies SP1 and 
H1 of the Development Plan and HG2 of the SAP 

 Provision of a commuted sum towards off-site playing pitch provision 
 
The Planning Case Officer reported the receipt of one additional 
representation received after publication of the agenda. The representation 
raised no new issues and those matters raised were covered in paragraphs 
1.4 and 1.8 of the submitted report or earlier reports. 
 
Members raised the following questions to officers/ applicant’s representatives 
 

 The roofscape appeared to be very bland, could further consideration 
be given to make the roofscape more interesting, consider the inclusion 
of chimneys  

 Would there be sufficient electrical supply capacity for adding solar 
panels in the future 
 

In responding to the issues raised, Planning Officers/ the applicant’s 
representative’s said: 
 

 The Planning Officer noted that there was already variety across the 
site with the inclusion of different roofscapes and levels.  

 The architect confirmed that one of the house types from the Strata 
Development contained chimneys and two house types from the 
Redrow Development also contained chimneys but further design of 
the roofscape could be negotiated if deemed necessary 

 Members were informed that solar panels could be included as an 
optional extra and there is sufficient electrical capacity to enable this 
but it was understood that not all occupiers considered solar panels 
were a benefit 

 
In offering comments Members raised the following matters: 

 

 The majority of Members welcomed the application suggesting the 
scheme was much improved and merits approval but could further 
refinements be made to the house types and the roofscape in 
consultation with Ward Members 

 Members welcomed the inclusion of some accessible housing units 

 Members accepted the viability position on the affordable housing 
provision 

 The retention of the Barnbow Social Club was important to the 
community, but the additions made to reflect the heritage importance of 
the site was acknowledged and appreciated 

 
The Chair thanked the developers for their attendance and presentation, 
commenting that Members appeared to be supportive of the development 
 
RESOLVED –  

Page 9



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Thursday, 23rd April, 2020 

 

 
(i) That the application be deferred and delegated to the Chief 

Planning Officer for approval subject to a satisfactory Road Safety 
Audit (Stage 1), final resolution of off-site highway mitigation works, 
the resolution of replacement playing pitch provision, potential 
further refinements to some house types and the roofscape (in 
consultation with Ward Members) the completion of a Section 106 
Agreement and subject to the conditions specified in the submitted 
report. The Section 106 Agreement to secure the following 
obligations: 

 

 Provision of affordable housing at 7.5%; 

 Commuted sum for replacement sports pitch provision; 

 Provision of bus stops; 

 Off-site highway works; 

 Travel Plan and monitoring provisions; 

 Local employment and skills initiative; 

 Provision of Public Open Space; 

 Commuted sum related to attenuation management; and 
 Community infrastructure payment. 

 
(ii)  In the event of the Section 106 Agreement having not been 

completed within 3 months of the resolution to grant planning 
permission, the final determination of the application shall be 
delegated to the Chief Planning Officer 

137 Application No.19/01666/FU - Demolition of existing buildings and 
structures and redevelopment of the site for a mixed-use development 
comprising up to 263 residential units (Use Class C3) and flexible 
commercial floorspace (Use Class A1, A2 or B1a); together with 
associated vehicular access, car and cycle parking spaces, bin stores, 
plant, landscaping, amenity space and associated infrastructure and 
engineering works on land at Kirkstall Hill, Kirkstall, Leeds LS5 3BH.  

 
The Chief Planning Officer submitted a report which sets out details of an 
application which sought the demolition of existing buildings and structures 
and redevelopment of the site for a mixed-use development comprising up to 
263 residential units (Use class C3) and flexible commercial floor-space (Use 
class A1, A2 or B1a) together with associated vehicular access, car and cycle 
parking spaces, bin store, plant, landscaping, amenity space and associated 
infrastructure and engineering works on land at Kirkstall Hill, Kirkstall, Leeds, 
LS5 3BH. 
 
Site photographs and plans were displayed and referred to throughout the 
discussion of the application.  
 
Planning Officers addressed the Panel, speaking in detail about the proposal 
and highlighted the following: 
 

 Site/ location/context 

Page 10



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Thursday, 23rd April, 2020 

 

 Former Super Market site together with a number of vacant buildings in 
a state of disrepair 

 Main access to the site is taken from Beecroft Street 

 The proposal 263 dwellings with a mixture of house types: Apartments 
183, Townhouses 80 

 Residential blocks 3 storey’s in height 

 Stepped design in response to the level changes across the site. 

 Commercial units along Kirkstall Hill/Lane providing active frontage 

 The landscaping plan proposes hedge planting, amenity grass, 
wildflower areas, allotment planters and rain gardens 

 Undercroft parking and on-street parking 231 spaces 

 Cycle parking 310 spaces 

 Materials red brick with stone accents, roof materials grey slate, timber 
windows reflecting the heritage of the area 

 Affordable housing provision 13.6%  

 Viability issues  
 
The Panel heard from Councillor J Illingworth (Ward Member) and Mr S Long, 
a local resident, both were objecting to the proposal. 
 
Councillor Illingworth said that originally Kirkstall Ward Members were 
supportive of the scheme but engagement with Ward Members and the local 
community had ceased with a number of outstanding issues still to be 
addressed. Ward Members now suggested that Panel consider deferral of the 
application to allow further discussions with the applicant in respect of 
insufficient affordable housing provision, insufficient on-site greenspace 
provision and highway safety concerns. 
 
Mr Long said the proposal included a large number of flats, the area did not 
need any more flats, more family housing was required and the 
development’s design also needed to be considered in more detail. Mr Long 
said traffic generation continued to be a concern and improvements were 
required at the junction of Kirkstall Lane and Kirkstall Road as traffic 
congestion would otherwise be increased. Further, Yorkshire Water have 
lodged an objection and it is the case that the existing sewerage provision will 
not be sufficient once the development is complete. 
 
Questions to Councillor J Illingworth 
 
There were no questions to Councillor J Illingworth 
 
Questions to Mr S Long 
 

 What was the view of local residents with regard to this application 

 How was it felt that the development would impact on Kirkstall Abbey 
 
In responding Mr S Long said; 
 

 There was resentment in the local area to the application 

Page 11



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Thursday, 23rd April, 2020 

 

 Images had not been provided by the developer which indicated how 
the proposals would ‘sit’ within the background of Kirkstall Abbey, but 
there was the potential for it to interfere with historic viewpoints 
 

In response, the Panel heard from Mr C Wilding, applicant’s representative 
who was speaking in support of the proposal. 
 
Mr Wilding said he welcomed the report recommendation which followed a 12 
month consultation with the local community (both pre- and post-submission). 
He said two workshops had been held in the area to explain the proposals 
and address any concerns raised. He said the development site was 
challenging with changing levels across the site. The development would 
deliver some family housing but the proportion of flats was required to 
maintain a viable scheme and would include affordable housing provision at 
13.6% (36 units) now that positive negotiations had taken place with a 
Housing Association. Technically the proposals met the quantum of 
Greenspace provision required by the Council’s policies although it was 
recognised that the space was fragmented across the site and in some cases 
had challenging levels. The parking levels were set to encourage use of more 
sustainable transport modes in this accessible location. He suggested this site 
provided an opportunity to create an attractive/innovative design, the 
developers would also seek to achieve high standards in energy reduction. 
 
Questions to Mr Wilding; 
 

 While the on-screen images provided were small, there appeared to be 
a lot of red brick, what will be the architectural treatment to avoid a 
bland appearance 

 Could the contribution of £10,000 for off-site greenspace enhancement 
be increased 

 The proposed undercroft parking, was there a potential pollution risk in 
terms of poor air quality 

 Why are more commercial units/shops being proposed, nearby shops 
already exist 

 The existing stone wall on site, could this be retained 

 Why were so many flats being proposed 

 In terms of viability, had any other models been considered 

 Is it appropriate to locate all the affordable housing in two blocks 

 Would the external spaces be fully accessible 

 Can a bus lane be provided by widening Kirkstall Road  

 Had realignment of the scheme been considered to complement the 
historic neighbouring properties 

 The Courtyard and communal space, would these areas be managed 
and would there be a management fee. 

 What discussions had taken place with Ward Councillors 

 There would a canyon effect along Kirkstall Road with poor air quality 
when traffic builds up at the junction with Kirkstall Lane 

 Would the pedestrian crossing be improved at nearby junctions 
 

Page 12



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Thursday, 23rd April, 2020 

 

In responding Mr Wilding said: 
 

 The materials would be subject to condition so there was an 
opportunity for further discussions/negotiations with officers. However it 
was considered that the detailed treatment of the elevations including 
the treatment of bays, window reveals and the stepped roofline along 
the rise of the hill would provide visual interest (with enlarged images 
shown in the Committee Room being referred to at this stage) 

 Due to the viability position and the requirement for other contributions 
such as affordable housing and CIL it was not possible to increase the 
off-site greenspace contribution. However the developer was willing to 
work with the Council to lever in grants towards the enhancement of 
the adjacent council owned greenspace. The undercroft parking would 
include the infrastructure for 100% electric charging points and would 
also be mechanically ventilated 

 Due to the levels across the site there was surplus undercroft areas 
where it was the intention to provide flexible working or commercial 
space  

 Members were informed that it was unlikely the wall would be retained 
intact in situ due to the need to provide safe working conditions but the 
stone materials could be reused elsewhere on site  

 Members were informed that the intention was to provide a good 
housing mix across the site but the challenging gradients meant it was 
more appropriate and viable to provide the majority of the units as flats. 

 It was reported that a Build to Rent (BtR) model had been considered, 
but BtR was less viable in this case and would have resulted in less  
family accommodation 

 The Housing Association that is going to take the affordable units will 
also be taking the commercial space beneath one of the blocks for their 
management function and they prefer to see all affordable units located 
in one place for more efficient management purposes 

 The external gradients are challenging and therefore ramps and lifts 
will need to be provided to provide full accessibility 

 An area of land would be provided along Kirkstall Road for road 
widening purposes which could be used as a bus lane close to the 
junction with Kirkstall Road if considered necessary   

 Members were informed that providing accommodation on the historic 
alignment across the site had been considered but the view of the 
architect was that the resulting streets would have been too steep to 
meet current accessibility requirements 

 The communal areas, landscaping and connectivity would be managed 
by a company that would be funded by a service charge on the 
accommodation. 

 The Ward Councillors were fully consulted prior to submission of the 
formal application. There were several meetings with ward members, 
two public meetings and a public web site but there was a “step back” 
once the application was submitted. If approved the applicant would 
look to work with Ward Members to discuss greenspace improvements. 

Page 13



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Thursday, 23rd April, 2020 

 

 The additional car movements from the development would be small. 
However, it was important to have robust travel plan measures to 
encourage people to travel more sustainably and to avoid a worsening 
of traffic conditions. The Council’s Environmental Health Officers had 
not objected to the proposals on air quality grounds. 

 There were existing pedestrian crossings at all the nearby junctions 
and plans for further improvements for pedestrian connectivity as part 
of a major highway improvement scheme with the proposed 
development.   

 
Questions to Officers 
 

 Would there be additional traffic generation as a consequence of this 
development 

 Poor air quality had been raised as a concern 

 Were there any bus and cycle interventions proposed 
 

In responding to the issues raised, Planning Officers/ the applicant’s 
representatives said: 
 

 The LCC Highway Officer said this development would not have a 
significant impact on the highway network, with this being envisaged as 
less than that which would have been generated if any office or 
commercial use of the site had come forward 

 Any Travel Plan put in place would be reviewed and monitored by 
Highways on an ongoing basis, which ensures it is robust and 
appropriately enforced to ensure a sustainable approach to transport is 
introduced and maintained 

 Environmental Studies into air quality had raised no objections 

 Members were informed that a wider footpath would ease problems at 
the bus stop 

 
In offering comments Members raised the following matters: 
 

 Members were of the view that this was a difficult site to develop but 
there was a desire to see the site be brought back into use 

 Members acknowledged that the proposal could not fix the strategic 
traffic issues in the area and it would be inappropriate to in any way 
expect this development to do so, as any measures introduced are 
required to mitigate the impact of this specific development.  

 There were a lot of positives which would help to regenerate the site 

 Members were generally supportive of the proposed architectural 
design 

 One Member raised concerns about the relationship of the affordable 
housing blocks close to a busy road junction 

 A number of Members wanted the affordable housing provision to be 
increased and “pepper potted” across the site 

Page 14



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Thursday, 23rd April, 2020 

 

 A number of Members expressed concern about the perimeter 
treatment with a need for enhanced planting and green walls to 
address air quality 

 Members noted that the viability assessment contained significant 
contingency funding and in the event of profit levels exceeding that 
stated in the viability position then an overage clause should be 
included in the legal agreement to increase the contributions towards 
the Section 106 obligations to provide a policy compliant position as far 
as possible. 

 
Officers advised that the recommendation in the report could be amended to 
require officers to negotiate provision of enhanced green walls and planting 
along Beecroft Street and near block E, pursue reuse of the stone wall 
material and incorporate an overage clause in the Section 106 agreement 
pursuant to the requested delegated authority. 
 
Following discussion and a vote, the majority of Members were supportive of 
the officer recommendation as amended above. 
 
The Chair thanked the developers for their attendance and presentation, 
commenting that Members were supportive of the application but materials 
from the existing stone wall should be reused, more greenery and perimeter 
planting was required and that the inclusion of an overage clause was 
required in the Section 106 agreement. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 

(i) That the application be deferred and delegated to the Chief 
Planning Officer for approval subject to the conditions specified in 
the submitted report (and any others which he might consider 
appropriate) subject to materials from the existing stone wall being 
re-used, provision of more greenery and perimeter planting, and 
inclusion of an overage clause in the Section 106 agreement and 
following the completion of a Section 106 Agreement. 
  

 The Section 106 Agreement to include the following obligations 
 (and any other if considered necessary and appropriate, including 
 the provision noted above): 

 

 Provision for 13.6% affordable housing 

 Travel Plan Fund of £131,632 + Travel Plan Monitoring Fee 
£3978 

 Car Club Space £7000 

 Off-site Greenspace enhancement of £10,000 

 Local employment and skills initiative 

 Parking Control Zone 
 

(ii)  In the event of the Section 106 Agreement having not been 
completed within 3 months of the resolution to grant planning 

Page 15



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Thursday, 23rd April, 2020 

 

permission, the final determination of the application shall be 
delegated to the Chief Planning Officer. 
 

138 PREAPP/19/00477 - PRE-APPLICATION PRESENTATION FOR OUTLINE 
PROPOSAL 'THE TANNERY' - MIXED USE SCHEME COMPRISING BUILD 
TO RENT (BTR) RESIDENTIAL WITH ANCILLARY GROUND FLOOR 
MIXED USES INCLUDING SMALL SCALE RETAILING, 
CAFÉ/RESTAURANTS, BARS AND CRÈCHE ON THE FORMER ARLA 
FOODS SITE ON THE SOUTHERN SIDE OF KIRKSTALL ROAD AND 
FRONTING THE RIVER AIRE  

 
The Chief Planning Officer submitted a report which set out details of a  
pre-application proposal for an outline proposal “The Tannery” – mixed use 
scheme comprising build to rent (BtR) residential with ancillary ground floor 
mixed uses including small scale retailing, café/restaurant bars and crèche on 
the former Arla food site on the southern side of Kirkstall Road and fronting 
the River Aire. 
 
Members visited the site prior to the meeting. Site photographs and plans 
were displayed and referred to throughout the discussion of the application.  
 
The applicant’s representatives addressed the Panel, speaking in detail about 
the proposal and highlighted the following:  
 

 Site / location / context 

 Large scale redevelopment of a brown-field site 

 Kirkstall Road is located to the north of the site, the River Aire and 
towpath of the Leeds Liverpool Canal are positioned to the south 

 The proposal, build to rent residential development, six blocks on a site 
which is L-shaped, 7 to 16 storeys in height delivering 640 residential 
units 

 Surface level car parking (230 spaces) cycle parking to be determined 

 Supporting commercial uses on ground floor 

 Single point of vehicular access/egress would be provided on Kirkstall 
Road with an exit only on Washington Street 

 Public realm, public open space, landscaping and greenspace 
proposals 

 Pedestrian access/ service arrangements 

 Affordable housing 7% (Compliant with Core Strategy Policy H5) 

 Energy/ Sustainability Strategy to be provided 

 Full wind assessment to be undertaken 

 Flood risk assessment to be provided 
 

Members raised the following questions: 
 

 There appeared to be a significant amount of visible car parking, could 
some of this be hidden  

 Does the car parking provision reflect a city centre location 

 Would flood alleviation measures be included within the development 

Page 16



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Thursday, 23rd April, 2020 

 

 The overall alignment and design of the buildings appears to be “too 
boxy” and perpendicular to each other, could this be re-visited 

 The illustrations provided did not provide a true representation of the 
development, with better quality images being needed before Members 
could necessarily be expected to give a clear ‘steer’ regarding design 

 Had balconies been considered 

 How was it intended that the public realm space proposed would be 
‘activated’ 

 
In responding to the issues raised, the applicant’s representatives said: 
 

 The architect stated that the car parking was located in undercroft 
areas or enclosed by buildings to limit street views as far as possible. 
He suggested the car parking could be further clustered to free up 
other areas and more green infrastructure could screen the car parking 
areas 

 The City Centre Team Leader reported that the car parking provision 
for this development was 37% similar to some other fringe city centre 
developments where less than the allowable maximum parking levels 
had been approved, however, it was understood the developers were 
encouraging less car travel and parking areas would revert back to 
landscaping if not used at a later date once occupation of the 
development increased and the extent of active use of car parking 
facilities had been gauged. 

 Members were informed that the proposal would be constructed in line 
with the requirements and limitations of the FAS2 scheme and would 
also include a wall 600mm in height, which would be incorporated 
within the landscaped area.  As with other city centre development 
sites that are within the flood risk zone, this would be developed with 
the appropriate mitigation measures incorporated as identified through 
subsequent analysis and evolution of the proposal 

 The architect suggested that the proposed arrangement of the 
buildings presented an opportunity to create large areas of open space 
and clear pedestrian connections through the site 

 The LCC Design Officer suggested the detailed building design was 
still to be established and Members need to see how the architecture 
evolves, with the images currently shown being at an early stage and 
therefore indicative only 

  The architect said that balconies were not included within the design 
brief 

 Consideration could be given to development of a riverside park-style 
element within the development redline 
 

In offering comments Members raised the following issues: 
 

 The majority of Members welcomed the proposals 

 Could significant landscaping/ greenspace provision be incorporated 
along the Kirkstall Road frontage to mitigate against traffic pollution and 
provide a buffer to the residential blocks 

Page 17



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Thursday, 23rd April, 2020 

 

 There needs to be significant greenspace and permeability throughout 
the site  

 Consider the use of photovoltaic cells and/or green infrastructure to 
screen surface level parking 

 Strong sustainable design and construction measures need to be 
included in the development, with this site presenting the opportunity 
for something very innovative to be brought forward 

 There appeared to be too much hard surfacing and the use of 
grasscrete should be considered for the surface parking areas   

 More internal communal space was required to encourage people to 
socialise 

 The width of the riverside walkway should be widened at the pinch 
points 
 

In offering comments on the officer’s questions in the submitted report: 
 

 Members were generally supportive of the proposed uses for the site 

 Members were supportive of the emerging scale but further refinement 
and information on the details of the design was required, with a less 
formulaic design to be considered 

 Members were supportive of the emerging approach to public realm 
but further landscaping/ greenspace provision was suggested and 
particularly along the Kirkstall Road frontage 

 Members were supportive of the connectivity proposals but could 
further consideration be given to extending the width of the riverside 
walkway at the pinch points and ensuring greater connectivity to the 
riverside and east-west 

 Further consideration was required around the approach to car parking 
provision on site including the level of parking that is required in this 
sustainable location 

 Consider innovative and attractive flood alleviation measures 

 Members expressed an aspiration for the provision of a river bus/water 
taxi 
 

The Chair thanked the developers for their attendance and presentation 
suggesting that Members appeared to be generally supportive of the 
development. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 

(i) To note the details contained in the pre-application presentation 
 

(ii) That the developers be thanked for their attendance and 
presentation. 
 

139 PREAPP/19/00543 - Pre application proposal for conversion and 
extension of existing building to student housing and educational 
facilities at Brotherton House, Westgate, Leeds, LS1 2RS  

 

Page 18



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Thursday, 23rd April, 2020 

 

The Chief Planning Officer submitted a report which set out details of a  
pre-application proposal for conversion and extension of existing building to 
student housing and educational facilities at Brotherton House, Westgate, 
Leeds, LS1 2RS. 
 
Members visited the site prior to the meeting. Site photographs and plans 
were displayed and referred to throughout the discussion of the application.  
 
The applicant’s representatives addressed the Panel, speaking in detail about 
the proposal and highlighted the following:  
 

 Site / location / context 

 Refurbishment/ conversion of the vacant Brotherton House and the 
construction of a new 15 storey block for 102 purpose built student 
housing flats (Providing 350 bedspaces) 

 The accommodation would be across both the existing building and the 
proposed new building; 56 studio flats and 46 cluster flats 

 The new block to include communal areas, educational use including 
lecture theatre and teaching rooms over three lower floors 

 External works to existing building including refurbishment of the 
windows, glazed link connecting the two buildings at ground floor level 

 Retention of historic features 

  The material for the new building would include white concrete tiles/ 
panels with clearly defined base, middle and top. Dark bronze window 
frames would be set within a 200m deep reveal window. The eastern 
and western gables would feature a projecting bay of windows framed 
with dark bronze coloured metal  

 Amenity through the building/ public realm/ landscaping 

 External roof terraces 

 Two disabled car parking spaces, electric vehicle charging points 
provided on site 

 Pick up and drop off, refuse servicing and cycle parking would be from 
Grace Street/ St Paul’s Street and manged by the applicant 

 Building to achieve 20% better than the carbon emission target in the 
2013 Part L Building Regulations and a minimum of 10% energy 
generation  would be developed through renewable  energy sources 
 

Members raised the following questions: 
 

 Members requested if the glazed link connecting the two buildings 
could be raised to first floor level  

 Given the proximity of the Westgate tunnel, was air quality an issue in 
this area  

 What was the approach to the boundary treatment and soft 
landscaping generally 

 Would green walls be incorporated within the development 

 The new building was very dominant compared with neighbouring 
buildings. Was the site in a location identified for tall buildings in the 
Council’s tall building guide 

Page 19



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Thursday, 23rd April, 2020 

 

 Can the new building be moved onto the adjacent council land to 
provide greater separation 

 The inclusion of some affordable units as part of the student 
accommodation proposed would be welcome 

 Is the proposed educational use independent or linked to the student 
use 
 

In responding to the issues raised, the applicant’s representatives said: 
 

 The architect said that the Leeds Civic Trust had also raised issue with 
the glass link being included in the position proposed, but the 
preference was to retain the glass link in its current position to as to 
ensure a single point of entry at ground floor level.  

 The architect suggested that there were many areas on the site where 
greenery: grass, trees and hedges could be planted to mitigate air 
quality and provide an enhanced green boundary treatment 

 The architect said that at this stage green walls were an aspiration but 
due consideration to their inclusion would be given 

 The City Centre Team Leader stated that the site was located in an 
identified preferred location for a tall buildings.  

 The LCC Design Officer suggested that more consideration should be 
given to the views of the southern aspect of the development and 
images of viewpoints could be provided to Members when the 
application returns to Panel, but it was positive that original materials 
were being retained and the existing design proposed could be 
finessed from its early iterations within the parameters of the tall 
buildings’ design guidance  

 The architect stated that a number of TPO trees would be affected if 
the new building was moved on to the Council owned land  

 The City Centre Team Leader said currently there was no LCC Policy 
for developments comprising student accommodation to incorporate 
affordable units 

 The educational space could be used flexibly both by students within 
the development (such as for study space) and / or let out to 
universities and other training providers 
 

In offering comments Members raised the following issues: 
 

 The majority of Members welcomed the development, suggesting 
Brotherton House had stood empty for many years and it would be nice 
to see it being brought back into use 

 Could the building be designed to take into account night time safety, 
including the use of active frontages and mitigate against dark or 
isolated areas. 

 Could further consideration be given to the southern aspect of the new 
building and the new building needs to be shown in the wider context of 
existing and emerging tall buildings in this area 

 
In offering comments on the officers’ questions in the report: 

Page 20



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Thursday, 23rd April, 2020 

 

 

 Members were of the view that the principle of purpose-built student 
housing with educational use was acceptable at this site  

 Members were supportive of the emerging layout and scale of the 
proposed building, however, further reconsideration of the appearance 
of the new building in relation to neighbouring buildings was required 

 Members expressed the view that the proposed amenity and housing 
quality was likely to be broadly acceptable for this site 

 Subject to the satisfactory resolution of detailed technical matters, 
Members were of the view that little or no car parking, the servicing 
provision and accessibility at the site to be acceptable, subject to 
acceptable pick-up and drop-off arrangements being made (both for 
taxis and at the start / beginning of academic terms) 

 Could the building be designed to take into account night time safety, 
including the use of active frontages and mitigate against dark or 
isolated areas. 
 

The Chair thanked the developers for their attendance and presentation 
suggesting that Members appeared to be generally supportive of the 
development. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 

(i) To note the details contained in the pre-application presentation 
 

(ii) That the developers be thanked for their attendance and 
presentation 
 

140 Date and Time of Next Meeting  
 

RESOLVED – To note that the next meeting will take place on Thursday, 2nd 
April 2020 at 1.30pm in the Civic Hall, Leeds 
 
 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Report of the Chief Planning Officer 
 
CITY PLANS PANEL 
 
Date: 21st May 2020 
 
 
Subject:       Outline planning application for a residential development with all matters 

reserved save for the two principle accesses off Westerton Road and 
Haigh Moor Road, (but not to include access within the site), three points 
of access at Upper Green Avenue, Sandringham Drive and Hill Top Lane, 
associated works, public open space provision and accessibility and 
qualitative improvements to local greenspace 

 
APPLICANT DATE VALID TARGET DATE 
West Ardsley Development 
Consortium 

15 December 2017 16 March 2018 

 
 

        
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Specific Implications For:  
 

Equality and Diversity  
  

Community Cohesion  
 

Narrowing the Gap  

Electoral Wards Affected:  
 
Morley South 
Ardsley and Robin Hood 

  

  

  

Originator:  Mark Jackson  
 
 
 
 

Tel:            0113  378 8136 
 

 Ward Members consulted  
  
Yes 

Page 23

Agenda Item 8



 
 
 
THIS REPORT IS AN UPDATE FOR MEMBERS, INCLUDING THE PRESENTATION OF 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION RECEIVED FROM THE APPLICANT. THIS REPORT 
RELATES TO THE PLANS PANEL MEETING ON 30TH JANUARY 2020, WHERE 
MEMBERS RESOLVED THAT THE APPLICATION BE DEFERRED TO ALLOW THE 
CHIEF PLANNING OFFICER TO PREPARE AND BRING BACK TO PANEL DETAILED 
REASONS FOR REFUSAL. THE ADDITIONAL INFORMATION HAS SIGNIFICANT 
IMPLICATIONS FOR THE ORIGINAL RESOLUTION AND THEREFORE A DUAL 
RECOMMENDATION IS MADE. 
 
DUAL RECOMMENDATION:  
 
RECOMMENDATION (1) 
REFUSAL OF PLANNING PERMISSION FOR THE REASONS SET OUT BELOW 
 

1) The Local Planning Authority consider that the narrowness and nature of the 
access roads leading to the sites are unacceptable and detrimental to highway 
safety. The proposal is contrary to Policy T2 of the Core Strategy, Policy GP5 of 
the UDP Review and the sustainable transport guidance contained in the NPPF 
(paragraph 109). 
 

2) The Local Planning Authority consider that the proposal fails to demonstrate 
that the impact of the development on the local highway infrastructure, 
including junctions 28 of the M62,  A650/Common Lane and A650/A6029 Rein 
Road and the wider highway network, which will be affected by additional traffic 
as a result of this development, can be adequately mitigated against. The 
proposal is contrary to Policy T2 of the Core Strategy, Policy GP5 of the UDP 
Review and the sustainable transport guidance contained in the NPPF 
(paragraph 109), which combined, requires development not to create or 
materially add to problems of safety, environment or efficiency on the highway 
network. 

 
3) The Local Planning Authority considers that there is insufficient information 

submitted with the application to demonstrate that an acceptable level of 
accessibility can be achieved for the scale of development proposed. The site 
does not meet the accessibility standards for housing to be located within a 5 
minute walk to a bus stop that offers a direct service to a major public transport 
interchange at a 15 minute frequency as set out in the adopted Accessibility 
Standards of the Core Strategy. The proposal is contrary to policies SP1, T2 
and H1 of the Leeds Core Strategy and policy GP5 of the adopted UDP Review 
and guidance in the NPPF (paragraphs 109 and 110). 

 
Or, 
 
RECOMMENDATION (2)  
DEFER AND DELEGATE TO THE CHIEF PLANNING OFFICER FOR APPROVAL subject 
to the specified conditions outlined in the Officer’s First Report dated 30 January 2020 
(outlined in Appendix 1 of this report) and (any others which he might consider 
appropriate) and also the completion of a S106 agreement. 
 
 
 
1.0 INTRODUCTION: 

Page 24



 
1.1 This application is brought to Plans Panel to update Members following the 

resolution not to follow the Officer recommendation and to refuse planning consent 
at the Plans Panel of 30th January 2020. Since the approval of the minutes of the 
meeting, further information has been received from the applicant and in addition to 
setting out the Chief Planning Officer response to the provisional reasons formulated 
by the Panel for refusing permission, the further information is put forward to 
Members for consideration.  

 
1.2 The report sets out detailed reasons for refusal based on the issues Members raised 

at the last Panel meeting, however, a dual recommendation is put forward for 
consideration as the further additional information provided by the Applicant strongly 
supports the original Chief Planning Officer’s recommendation.  The report has also 
set out, in accordance with the requirements of the Council’s Planning Code of Good 
Practice, the implications of each putative refusal reason, should Members still 
resolve to refuse planning consent.  

 
1.3 It should be made clear to Members that the additional information does not change 

the application, in terms of houses proposed or the locations and numbers of 
accesses. Therefore, there is no requirement to further publicise such information. 
The additional information confirms further improvements to accessibility through the 
offer of further contributions towards bus service improvements and this information 
is presented to Members to enable a further assessment of the application to be 
undertaken and is the reason a dual recommendation is being presented as 
effectively, the additional improvements offered weakens the defensible position of 
the original resolution to refuse planning consent and requires full consideration. 

 
1.4 Panel Members will recall that the application is for outline planning consent for five 

access points into four parcels of land to enable the development of 299 dwelling 
houses. All other matters are reserved for future consideration. 

 
1.5 The proposed development sites HG2-168 and HG2-169 are allocated for housing 

development within the adopted Site Allocation Plan (SAP). The principle of the sites 
for housing has therefore been considered and established by the plan making 
process of the adopted SAP. The SAP was found to be sound and sustainable by 
independent Government Inspectors, provided that site allocation requirements are 
satisfied. The refusal of planning permission is a departure from the recently adopted 
development plan and the following report provides Members with clarification of the 
implications of departing from the adopted plan. 

 
1.6  Following the resolution by Members at Plans Panel to defer  the application, to 

allow the Chief Planning Officer to prepare and bring back to Panel detailed 
Reasons for Refusal, officers have formulated reasons for refusal which are based 
on the clear basis and reasons of Members not accepting the Officer 
recommendation. In line with paragraph 6.3 of the Council’s Planning Code and 
Good Practice, where a decision by Members differs from the Planning Officer’s 
recommendation, the Chief Planning Officer should provide provisional reasons for 
refusal, with an explanation of the implications of such action. 

 
1.7 The resolution to defer for refusal was based on the following reasons raised by 

Members: 
 

- The narrowness and nature of the access roads leading to the entrances to 
the sites 
 

Page 25



- The lack of information on the mitigation that is required to address the 
impact on the local highway junctions 
 

- The failure of the site to meet the Core Strategy accessibility standards for 
housing development 

 
1.8  This report up-dates Members regarding additional information received from the 

applicant to allow Members to reach their own conclusion as to the acceptability of 
the proposal. The report is set out into two sections. Firstly, in line with the resolution 
of Members to defer and prepare Reasons for Refusal, the report has outlined the 
reasons for refusal and the implications of these reasons. The resolution to refuse 
planning consent is contrary to the Local Planning Authority’s (LPA) recently 
adopted, up to date plan, and together with the additional information, the second 
section of the report will give further policy context to the application and an 
appraisal of the proposal in light of the additional information.  

 
1.9 The additional information, as it will be demonstrated, does support the Chief 

Planning Officers original recommendation to grant permission and further satisfies 
the application’s compliance with both national and local plan policies.    

 
 
2.0 UPDATE 
 
2.1 Since the last Panel meeting a representation has been received dated 3rd February 

2020 from the agent of the applicants, Walker Morris LLP. The letter raises various 
material considerations; these can be summarised as: 

 
- It is regarded that the resolution is unreasonable and of significant concern 

given the implications such a decision has on the implementation of the 
recently adopted Development Plan; 

- The decision sends a wrong signal to those within the development industry 
and undermines several years of working with the Council to adopt a 
sustainable strategy for this site; 

- Contact with the housebuilding industry is ongoing and serious concerns over 
investment in Leeds is raised due to this application disregarding the clear 
aims of the Development Plan; 

- The matters motioned to form the basis of the refusal have all been clearly 
identified at the Examination in Public of the SAP 

 
2.2 Further information has been received from the applicant, which seeks to address 

concerns raised by Members regarding the accessibility of the site in regards to 
Policy T2 of the Core Strategy. The additional information has included 2 technical 
notes responding to the three points referenced in paragraph 1.7 of this report. 

 
2.3 The correspondence most significantly includes agreement for the applicant to make 

further contributions, secured through the proposed Section 106 agreement, for 
improvements to the local bus services. The applicant has discussed the existing 
bus services within the area with West Yorkshire Combined Authority (WYCA) which 
has outlined potential improvements that could be made to the local bus services, 
and their costs, that would improve the overall accessibility of the site and wider 
area.   

 
2.4 WYCA consider the site as effectively 2 parcels of land (north and south of Haigh 

Woods). The detailed accessibility in terms of access to services (including 
transport) across the individual parcels is considered to be varied due to the linear 

Page 26



layout of the application site. The majority of the parcels of land are extensions to 
existing housing areas so it is considered that these parts of the site will be outside 
the desired walking distances to bus services (400 metres). It is therefore 
considered by WYCA that there are limited opportunities to improve this from a bus 
operating perspective. However, the sites are located between the main bus 
corridors on the A650 and Dewsbury Road.  

 
2.5 The bus service frequencies in the area between these corridors is currently 

considered to be low and there is a desire to facilitate some enhancements but this 
is reliant on demand and funding being available through developments such as the 
proposed. The services that operate are done on a commercial basis (routes 117, 
425) and through the Combined Authority (route 48). 

 
2.6 The 117 service presents the best opportunity to improve the service level, although 

this is based on the current demand levels and the 425 is desirable for improvement 
too. These services are currently operated on a commercial basis by Arriva and on 
an hourly basis. As commercial services, any enhancement would require further 
discussions with Arriva, but WYCA anticipate that to enhance the 117 service from 
an hourly service to half hourly service for the section between Leeds and the site, 
would require 2 to 3 buses. This would equate to an annual contribution of £300,000 
to £450,000 per annum based on current standard costs. However, in the 
circumstances it would be expected that Arriva would cover some of this cost and 
require a lower contribution. It is considered by WYCA that £150,000 per annum for 
five years would be a proportionate requirement from the applicant to improve the 
frequency of the 117 service; however, the monies would potentially be used to 
improve the 425 also. 

 
2.7 In terms of infrastructure, with respect to the Northern parcels of land, although 

ideally improvements would be sought to the bus stops, the existing residential 
frontages and lack of footpath width prevent further bus shelters being provided. 
However, with respect to the Southern Parcel, WYCA have suggested that the 
applicant funds 2 new bus shelters with real time displays (total £46,000) that would 
improve the existing stops with stops 16091 and 50378 (virtual stop as 16091 is a 
two direction stop) moved south and incorporated into the frontage at the new 
access point onto Haigh Moor Road. 

 
2.8 The applicant has confirmed that they will fund the new bus shelters with a 

contribution of £46,000.00 and contribute £750,000 towards the bus service 
improvements (£150,000 set over 5 years), which would fully satisfy WYCA’s 
request for bus stop and service improvements.  

 
 
 SECTION 1:  
 
3.0 REASONS FOR REFUSAL AND THEIR IMPLICATIONS 
 
 Putative Refusal Reason 1 

 
The narrowness and nature of the access roads leading to the entrances to 
the sites 

 
  
3.1 Concerns were raised by Members that the width of the access roads into several 

parts of the two SAP sites can often be congested with existing residential on street 

Page 27



car parking and increased traffic along these small streets would give rise to 
highway safety issues.  

 
3.2 Members raised questions regarding the suitability of the width of the existing roads 

where accesses are taken from existing residential streets with a width of 5.5 
metres. The existing roads are 5.5 metres in width and are adopted. The proposed 
roads would be the same width and also of an adoptable standard that would be 
acceptable and in line with carriageway widths outlined for residential streets in the 
Supplementary Planning Document; Street Design Guide. Therefore Members can 
be reassured that the existing street widths are not substandard in relation to current 
standards and all future roads within the sites would also be required to be of an 
acceptable width  and compliant with the guidance or Policy T2 of the Core Strategy.  

 
3.3 To pursue a reason for refusal of this planning application on grounds of highway 

width is not supported by technical evidence and planning policy. In light of the 
matters set out above officer advice is that it would be very difficult to substantiate 
the suggested reason for refusal and that as a consequence the council could be at 
a risk of a costs award against it in the event of an appeal. 

  
  
4.0 Putative Refusal Reason 2  

 
Lack of information on the mitigation that is required to address the impact on 
the local highway junctions  

 
4.1 Extensive discussions were held at the Plans Panel meeting outlining the extent of 

the mitigation measures proposed as a result of the identified cumulative impact 
upon the local highway network. It was discussed that although the proposal would 
contribute money to a collective pot that will ultimately contribute to improvements 
identified in Officer’s report, the sums were not sufficient enough to provide the 
infrastructure before the development was completed and occupied, in its entirety. 
As such, it was considered that the proposal was not sustainable and when coupled 
with a very infrequent local bus services, such an increase in vehicular movements 
would have an adverse impact upon the identified junctions and the wider area at 
this present time.  

 
4.2  For clarity, Officers confirm that any refusal of development on this site will not alter, 

the baseline level of traffic in the area which will not stagnate. The Council requires 
the growth of local communities and the demand that comes with it to ensure that 
the communities remain sustainable and further infrastructure is delivered. The SAP 
allocates a collection of sites that are deemed to be sustainable as collectively they 
deliver housing and thus the demand that lead to the regeneration of the area in 
terms of local facilities/ infrastructure. The planning application’s scope is limited and 
299 dwellings will not in itself provide funds to deliver complete highways 
improvements and infrastructure improvements that are currently considered to be 
necessary. However, it was never the intention of the SAP that the allocated sites, 
individually should or could do so. Instead, the contributions made will be an 
important and necessary catalyst for the improvements to be designed and delivered 
in the future.  

 
4.3 The applicant has identified the cumulative impact of the proposal and proportioned 

contributions towards a scheme of mitigation works. The contributions proposed are 
considered by Officers to be appropriate to the scale of this development, and have 
been based on speculative proposals for improvement works. Although the applicant 
has not, as part of this application, drawn up any proposal for improvement works, 

Page 28



high level feasibility work has been carried out by the Highways Authority on LCC 
junctions and Highways England are looking at the scheme required to the motorway 
junction in association with other potential developments   This work has resulted in 
a S106 contribution by the applicant for these off site junctions of £903,000 towards 
cumulative impact.  These funds are not mitigating severe impacts from this site but 
are only needed to accommodate traffic generated from developments delivered 
across the whole plan period (2033).  Delivery of these cumulative impact schemes 
lies with the City Council and Highways England when sufficient funds are available 
from Development and other funding sources.  A list of these schemes sits with 
LCC’s Transport Strategy team to locate the necessary top up funding and these 
locations will come forward more quickly when they have secured some Developer 
funding. 

 
4.4 The LPA has not yet adopted its Supplementary Planning Guidance for cumulative 

impact contributions. However, officers consider that the proposed contributions are 
proportionate Highways contributions based on ongoing highways works that are 
being investigated by the Highways Authority and Highways England for the 
junctions identified in this area, and the emerging SPD formula. The contributions 
are considered to take into account the emerging SPD. 

 
4.5 It is acknowledged that Members’ desire to ensure that the full mitigation works are 

implemented before the development is completed and as such the issue primarily 
relates to one of timing.  Whilst officers acknowledge this concern, the SAP site 
requirements for the application sites do not require that the highway mitigation is in 
place or complete prior to development of the site or even occupation of it. The site 
requirement only requires that the cumulative impact monies are secured (paid).  In 
light of this, Members are advised that the application, in relation to cumulative 
impact highways mitigation fully complies with the SAP and the specific site 
requirement of the allocations. 

 
4.6  Accordingly, it is considered by Officers that it would be difficult to substantiate a 

refusal of permission for lack of mitigation required to address the impact on the 
local highway junctions, again putting the council at a risk of a costs award against it.  

 
4.7 In light of the additional monies offered and the further clarity around the timing of 

such contributions established through the SAP, and the impact that has in terms of 
policy compliance, Members are requested to further consider the application in 
terms of cumulative impact on highways junctions and whether the second reason 
for refusal is still appropriate. 

  
 
5.0 Putative Refusal Reason 3 
  

The failure of the site to meet the Core Strategy accessibility standards for 
housing development 

 
5.1 Great concern was raised by Members that the bus services in the area are 

infrequent and that the proposal would not be served by adequate school provisions. 
As such, it was considered by Members that the site was unsustainable and did not 
meet all of the accessibility standards within Policy T2 of the Core Strategy; in 
particular, bus frequency was of great concern. The Policy T2 Accessibility 
Standards are as follows:  

 
Smaller settlements and other rural areas - Accessibility Standards  

Page 29



• Within 5 min walk of a bus stop/ 10 min walk of a rail station. Ensure that 
arrival and departure of services coincide with work start and finish times.  

 
• Located within 10 min walk of a bus stop/ rail station. Ensure that arrival and 

departure of services coincide with appointments / start and finish times of 
schools.  

 
• Located within 10 min walk of a bus stop/ rail station. Ensure that arrival and 

departure of services coincide with visiting hours / start and finish times.  
 
• Located within 5 min walk of a bus stop offering 15 min service frequency* to 

a major public transport interchange. 
 
5.2 For clarity it is reiterated here that the applicant has discussed this issue with WYCA 

since the Plans Panel meeting and offered further contributions to new bus shelters 
and further bus services over a 5 year period, amounting to £796,000. In light of the 
further contributions offered towards increasing bus services in the area, the 
proposal is considered, on the basis of the additional information (and funding) 
provided since the last panel (i) to meet the funding required and (ii) to improve the 
overall accessibility of the site with only one parcel of land being marginally outside 
of the 5 min walk to the nearest bus stop, albeit not within a 15 min frequency 
required by Policy T2. The parcel of land served from Upper Green Avenue is 
considered 425 metres away, which would relate to 5min 20 seconds based on a 
3mph walk, which is only 20 seconds longer than the accessibility standard. Whilst 
bus services would still not be expected to meet the 15 minute service frequency 
required by the Accessibility Standards they would be significantly better than 
current service levels and they would benefit the wider community as well as 
residents of this development. 

 
5.3 Notwithstanding the issues outlined above in relation to Policy T2,the the matters 

relating to accessibility were extensively covered through the SAP process and the 
inspectorate has looked at the overall merits of the site being allocated for housing 
and whether the accessibility standards achieved are acceptable. They were 
considered acceptable and the further contributions would only serve to enhance the 
public transport infrastructure. 

 
5.4 The concept of sustainability was thoroughly assessed during the SAP process and 

the bus services were considered acceptable. Moreover, in light of the further 
contributions offered, Officers are of the opinion that the application’s compliance 
with accessibility standards set out in policy T2, is further increased.  

 
5.5    In light of the additional information received, since the last Panel meeting and the 

impact that has in terms of policy compliance, Members are requested to further 
consider the application in terms of accessibility of the site and whether the third 
reason for refusal is still appropriate. 
 
 
SECTION 2:  
 

6.0 APPRAISAL OF FURTHER INFORMATION PROVIDED 
 

6.1 As illustrated above, additional information provided by Officers and the Applicant 
significantly impact on the credibility of the putative reasons refusal.  
 

Page 30



6.2 With regards to putative refusal reason the road widths have been clarified and it is 
confirmed that the road widths fully accord with current planning policy T2 of 
supplementary guidance.  
 

6.3 The report also provides Members with further clarity regarding putative refusal 
reason 2, as to how the development plan (through the SAP) requires cumulative 
impact contributions to be fed into ongoing high level feasibility works and the timing 
as to when those works should be delivered, that the SAP only requires monies to 
be secured prior to development, rather than actual junction improvement being 
carried out. Furthermore, given that the cumulative impact contributions are aimed 
at mitigating against traffic generated throughout the entire development plan period 
(upto 2033), the contributions to be secured in relation to this application are 
considered to be acceptable and in full compliance with SAP policy HG2 and 
specific site requirements of HG2-168 and HG2 - 169 
 

6.4 With regards to putative refusal reason 3, the applicant has confirmed that they 
would fund two new bus shelter (£46,000.00), and contribute £750,000 towards bus 
service improvements (£150,000 set over 5 years). Such contributions have been 
considered by WYCA’s as being acceptable contributions. 

 
6.5 The funding would not in itself make the scheme fully compliant with regards to the 

Council’s accessibility standards, given walking distances from the centre of the 
parcel of land served from Upper Green Avenue and the service frequencies still fall 
short of the required 15 minute frequency. However, it would significantly improve 
the public transport offer to the site and, importantly, to existing residents as well. In 
light of the further contributions offered, it is considered that the accessibility 
standards set out in policy T2 are substantially met and are acceptable. 

 
6.6 The above appraisal outlines how the additional information further supports the 

original recommendation of the Chief Planning Officer to grant permission.  
 
 
7.0 POLICY CLARIFICATION AND SITE SUSTAINABILITY CREDENTIALS 
 
7.1 Whilst Members raised concerns with the general sustainability of the site, the 

information contained in paragraphs 7.1 to 7.25 outline how the principle of the 
development of these SAP sites was considered to be sound through the adoption 
process of the SAP. 
 

7.2 The application is an outline application with the principle of the site for housing 
having already been approved by the Planning Inspectorate through the adoption of 
the SAP, and adopted and endorsed by Members in July 2019. The SAP has site 
specific requirements for any application to meet, but ultimately its adoption has 
been as a result of the Planning Inspectorate finding the sites to be the most 
sustainable sites for residential development within West Ardsley. 

 
7.3 The first Officer report did not go into detail of how the SAP was appraised in terms 

of its sustainability. The issue of sustainability was discussed at length in the Plans 
Panel and the following section is provided to give clarity to Members as to how the 
sites were appraised in terms of their sustainability credential. The principle of 
sustainability of developing the site has been thoroughly examined by the Planning 
Inspectorate and it is advisable that any refusal reason relating to the in principle 
sustainability of the site could not be successfully defended at appeal and on that 
basis it is not recommended as a robust or reasonable reason for refusal. 

 
Page 31



 
Sustainability Appraisal: 
 

7.4 The SAP accepts that not all allocated sites are as sustainable as each other.  For 
example City Centre and Inner Area sites close to major transport networks will 
have a greater level of sustainability than sites in smaller settlements or outer areas 
where accessibility is less.  This is a fundamental part of the Core Strategy with the 
prime focus for development on the most sustainable locations (based upon the 
settlement hierarchy set out in Spatial Policy 1), but with an understanding that in 
order to meet needs throughout the City, some areas may be relatively less 
sustainable, but still in accordance with Leeds’ Local Plan.  To that end, some 
allocated sites may have some constraints which will need to be addressed through 
implementation of the site requirements and application of wider development plan 
policies.  However, such constraints on their own terms should not be reasons for 
refusal of allocated sites.   
 

7.5 The SAP has been informed by a Sustainability Assessment (SA). It should be 
noted that SA cannot ensure that development will be absolutely sustainable in all 
aspects.  It can only show how sustainable the effects of a policy or site are likely to 
be and where there are harmful impacts how far they can be mitigated (and site 
requirements applied).  A policy or site may have negative environmental impacts 
which could be outweighed by positive social and economic aspects of the policy, 
which in balance allow it to be regarded as sustainable overall.  The SA for sites 
HG2-168 and HG2-169 are found in Appendix 2. 

 
7.6 As shown in Appendix 2, both sites score positively (SA3, SA4, and SA8) and 

neutrally (SA9, SA13, SA1) for indicators related to accessibility. Neutral scores can 
be mitigated against or improved through detailed planning applications.  

 
7.7 The sites are comparatively sustainable when you review their scores against others 

that are allocated within the plan and Housing Market Character Area (HMCA). The 
Site Allocations Plan Sustainability Appraisal Addendum 2 details the SA scores for 
every site within the plan, and page 21 clearly shows that HG2-168 and HG2-169’s 
SA scores are comparatively positive within the context of the OSW. Please see 
Appendix 3 of this document for OSW HMCA SA scores.  

 
7.8 Ultimately, the sites were found by the Inspectors to meet the sustainability 

requirements necessary to find the sites sound. 
 
 

Highways Accessibility: 
 
7.9 Both sites score 3/5 for highways accessibility. The SAP infrastructure background 

paper (paragraph 173, Table 1) defines an accessibility to public transport rank of 3 
as “Public transport offer not in line with Core Strategy standards but availability of 
local services (e.g. Local Centre, schools etc.)” 

 
7.10 HG2-169: Accessibility Rank of 3/5. Comments were “Site has access to 2/3buses 

per hour and meets core strategy standards for primary and secondary education 
and primary health” 

 
7.11 HG2-168: Accessibility Rank of 3/5 “The site lies within the accessibility standards 

for 2/3buses per hour, primary and secondary education and primary health” 
 

Page 32



7.12 The SAP assessment states that the sites are accessible to primary health whereas 
the Transport Development Services consultee response provides more detail to 
indicate that parts of the application site do not meet those standards.  This is 
because the SAP assessment takes into account the strategic accessibility of the 
site as a whole.  It is for the detailed planning applications such as this to consider 
mitigation measures on this aspect.  This eventuality is also consistent with the SAP 
which in paragraph 2.54 describes how Core Strategy Policy P2 requires developers 
to provide contributions towards public transport provision where necessary. 

 
 
 Education and School Provisions  
 
7.13 Again, the SAP infrastructure background paper justifies the Council’s approach to 

school provision. Only completed housing or housing currently under construction is 
accounted for in school place planning forecasts and therefore the mechanism for 
providing new schools within the locality is driven by the delivery of the housing 
allocations and the Education Authority responding to the fluid changes of demand. 
Within the Outer South West HMCA and the East Ardsley area, there is school 
allocation HG5-8 (Bradford Road, East Ardsley), which is found to the west of East 
Ardsley Local Centre. The delivery of the residential schemes such as HG2-168/169 
will be the driver for new school provision within the HMCA. 

 
 
 Health Provisions 
 
7.14 Paragraphs 2.46 and 2.47 of the SAP explain the Council’s approach for the 

provision of health facilities to serve new allocations. Based on the initial 66,000 
housing target (reduced to 52,000 in the amended Core Strategy), it was calculated 
that an average of 5-6 new GPs would be needed per year, which is not a significant 
number for the population of Leeds. Whilst the SAP did not specifically allocate land 
for health facilities (due to providers planning for their own operating needs and 
local demand) the SAP was supported by a comprehensive Infrastructure Delivery 
Plan, seeking to coordinate investment in infrastructure across the District.  Outside 
of the plan making process, the City Council is working closely with Health 
providers.  However, under current arrangements existing practices determine for 
themselves (as independent businesses) whether to recruit additional clinicians in 
the event of their practice registered list growing. Practices can also consider other 
means to deal with increased patient numbers, including increasing surgery hours. 

 
7.15 The site is within public transport distance to Leigh View Medical Centre on Bradford 

Road, and there is the possibility to reach Batley Local Centre (in Kirklees) which 
has several doctors’ surgeries via public transport along Batley Road. With respect 
to Duty to Cooperate (DtC) and other cross boundary issues, the SAP Inspectors 
concluded that: 

 
There is a structured approach to cross boundary issues including 
agreement between the authorities on how to assess the impact of 
housing and employment allocations in the SAP on the adjoining 
authorities in respect of traffic and transport, schools including 
planning school places, local healthcare facilities, the impact of 
gypsy and traveller and Travelling Showpeople sites on traffic and 
transport movements, and the effect of development at Leeds 
Bradford Airport. 

 

Page 33



7.16 There has been consultation with Kirklees both at plan making stage and on the 
Haigh Wood applications. Through the adoption of the SAP, the site has been 
subject to discussion through DtC meetings with Kirklees. The DtC background 
paper details Kirklees potential concerns for sites HG2-168 and HG2-169 as: 

 
These proposed housing allocations will add to traffic congestion 
on the A653. Kirklees Council is also proposing housing and 
employment development off the A653 

 
7.17 These concerns were addressed through a main modification to the highways site 

requirements for both sites that required a direct reference to the impact on Kirklees’ 
highways.  
 

7.18 The Leeds Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) was contacted in February 2020 
for an update on surgeries within the Outer South West (OSW) HMCA. Their 
response was as follows: 

 
Back in 2017, we undertook some local work with practices in the 
locality about the need for any new practice in the area in 
anticipation of future housing growth based on the SAP.  At that 
time, it was agreed that there was not a need for a new practice as 
specific practices in the area were actively looking at expanding 
their lists.  In light of this, it was agreed that there wasn’t a need 
for a new surgery but continue to work with practices to ensure 
their clinical workforce can continue to expand in preparation for 
the new housing sites.  
 

7.19 It should also be noted that the CCGs did not have any objections to the plan 
through the SAP process.  

 
 
Phasing: Inspector’s report on phasing 
 

7.20 Phasing policies were removed from the SAP as they were not justified due to the 
plan only allocating sufficient housing up to 2023 (years 1 -11 of the plan period). 
This is detailed within paragraph 41 of the Planning Inspector’s report. 

 
7.21 However, the site HG2-168 and HG2-169 were initially designated as Phase 2 within 

the publication draft of the plan. Phase 1 sites were identified as commencing from 
the base date of the Core Strategy (2012) whilst Phase 2 sites were seen a coming 
forward in the medium term (5-10 years). Even if the adopted SAP had retained 
phasing, as these sites were Phase 2 initially, it was always envisaged that these 
sites would be delivered 5- 10 and we are currently in year 8.  

 
 

SAP Review: 
 
7.22 The SAP contains Policy HGR 1 which requires the Council to review the Site 

Allocations Plan following the Core Strategy Selective Review adoption. The review 
is to be submitted no later than the 31st December 2021 and will seek to ensure that 
there is still a 5 year housing supply. Work has commenced in preparing the scope 
of the review.  

 
7.23 It is worth noting that prior to adoption of the SAP in 2019, the Council lost 9 

appeals on Protected Areas of Search (PAS) sites when the Council did not have a 
Page 34



5 year supply of housing. It is therefore important to ensure the delivery of allocated 
SAP sites if they are determined to be policy compliant, in order to maintain the 5 
year housing land supply and reduce the likelihood of speculative piecemeal 
development being considered.  

 
7.24 The Inspectors were clear that the allocated SAP sites are in sustainable allocations. 

Paragraph 109 of the Inspectors Report states:  
 
Driven by the CS guiding principles, the key factors were identified.  An 
appropriate selection of potential sites was assessed.  The reasons for 
selecting the preferred sites and rejecting others is ….sufficiently clear.  
The overall process represents a sound approach to identifying those sites 
considered to represent the best and most sustainable choice for 
development in each HMCA to contribute to the target requirement.”   

 
7.25 Refusals on allocated sites in an adopted plan could lead to speculative and 

piecemeal development and potentially less sustainable sites being considered for 
allocation within the SAP review. The SAP has provided evidence that the 
application sites are more sustainable than other discounted sites within the OSW 
HMCA. Development such as this is the mechanism for delivery to provide the 
required infrastructure that would improve the sustainability and accessibility in the 
locality.   The SAP allocations and identified sites have been cumulatively assessed 
to ensure that appropriate infrastructure can be provided where this is within the 
power of the Council.  It also provides clarity on how much growth is planned to 
occur in different areas so that infrastructure providers, for their own investment 
plans working closely with the Council, may provide for the housing pipeline.    

 
 

8.0 CITY WIDE IMPLICATIONS FOR THE REFUSAL OF PLANNING PERMISSION 
 
8.1 It should be borne in mind that the application needs to be determined in 

accordance with Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, 
which states that planning applications are determined in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The SAP has 
to be afforded full weight in the determination process of any application and any 
refusal of planning permission for housing sites identified within the SAP, must 
clearly demonstrate that there are material planning considerations which indicate 
otherwise. 

 
8.2  Further, the wider implications of the refusal and the risk that presents on the 

delivery of the LPA’s Development Plan needs to be considered.   The SAP has 
identified housing land that is considered to include the most suitable locations 
across the city that collectively deliver sustainable development. The National 
Planning Policy Framework requires the LPA to have a 5 year supply of housing 
across the city and the adopted SAP and Core Strategy enables the LPA to have an 
up to date plan with sufficient housing to be delivered over the Development Plan 
period. However, the refusal of housing sites that have been identified and allocated 
in the Plan jeopardises the LPA’s 5 year housing supply and erodes the 
effectiveness of the Development Plan. This in turn could mean development 
outside of the SAP will need to be considered in future and piecemeal development 
is likely to prevail that will not contribute significantly towards local infrastructure, 
due to their individual scale and nature.  

 
8.3  The Council has declared a Climate Emergency and the SAP contributes 

significantly to the delivery of sustainable development at both the macro and micro 
Page 35



levels. On the macro scale, the SAP seeks to deliver housing supply which grows 
local communities at a sustainable rate, whilst at the micro level, the up to date plan 
can be effectively used to ensure that policies specific to housing designs, layout 
and construction are effectively implemented to achieve the highest quality 
developments. 

 
8.4 Most pertinent to this application, the site has been allocated for housing and this 

application provides an opportunity to comprehensively develop the two parcels of 
land and secure significant contributions to improve the highways network and 
legitimise/ improve access to Haigh Woods. Alternatively, a refusal is likely to 
increase the chances that the allocated areas are brought forward for development 
in a piecemeal fashion, similar to historic developments along Haigh Moor Road that 
would not contribute effectively to the sustainability of the wider community or 
required infrastructure.  

 
 
9.0 DECISION MAKING 
 
9.1 When assessing the application Members are reminded it is for them, as decision-

maker to ascribe the amount of weight to be afforded to the conflict or compliance 
with national policy and the development plan overall, making their decision in the 
interests of the whole City (rather than their individual Ward), without discrimination, 
based on sound judgement and for justifiable planning reasons. 

 
9.2  Members have a statutory obligation to determine all planning applications in 

accordance with the adopted development plan, unless other material 
considerations indicate otherwise.  They also have an obligation to have regard to 
all views expressed, having regard to the context that planning law does not require 
an applicant to prove that no harm would arise from a proposal.   

 
9.3 The correct test for granting or refusing planning permission is whether or not it has 

been demonstrated that, on the balance of probabilities, the proposed development 
would have a detrimental effect on one or more material planning considerations. 
Therefore, in coming to a decision on a proposal Members must determine the 
application on its own merits having taken into account planning law, planning policy 
and other material considerations which include all relevant written and oral 
representations and apply appropriate weight to each in order to reach a decision.  
Whilst the weight given to each factor is a matter for the decision maker, there is a 
requirement to apply weight reasonably.  For example, it would be reasonable to 
give more weight to objective professional reports and technical data than other 
opinion, which is not supported by evidence. 

 
 
10.0 CONCLUSION 
 
10.1 In conclusion, although Members have previously resolved that the application be 

deferred to allow the chief planning officer to prepare and bring back to panel 
detailed reasons for refusal, the additional information and offer from the applicant 
must also now be considered and taken into account. 

 
10.2 Members are therefore requested to further consider the application in light of the 

additional information and determine whether, in light of the further clarification and 
additional information (and increased offer from the applicant) they wish to support 
the Officer Recommendation (2) to grant permission, subject to the required 

Page 36



planning obligations and conditions outlined in the first officer report (at Appendix 1), 
as set out in Recommendation (2) at the head of this report.  

 
10.3 Alternatively, if Members are still minded to refuse the application (recommendation 

1), they are asked to consider the impact such a refusal may have upon the delivery 
of the SAP sites across the city and whether in light of the additional information and 
offer received and implications of each refusal reason outlined in the report, they 
wish to support this recommendation or instead amend or withdraw one or more 
reasons for refusal.  

 
 
  
 
 .  
 
Background Papers  
Application Files:  17/08262/OT 
 
 

 

APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 37



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Report of the Chief Planning Officer 
 
CITY PLANS PANEL 
 
Date: 21st May 2020 
 
Subject: Outline planning application for a residential development with all matters 

reserved save for the two principle accesses off Westerton Road and Haigh 
Moor Road, (but not to include access within the site), three points of 
access at Upper Green Avenue, Sandringham Drive and Hill Top Lane, 
associated works, public open space provision and accessibility and 
qualitative improvements to local greenspace 

 
APPLICANT DATE VALID TARGET DATE 
West Ardsley Development 

Consortium 
15 December 2017 16 March 2018 

 
 

 

Electoral Wards Affected:  
Morley South 
Ardsley and Robin Hood 
 

Specific Implications For:  
Equality and Diversity 
Community Cohesion 
Narrowing the Gap 

 

Originator:  Mark Jackson  
 
 
 
 

Tel:            0113  378 8136 

 

 
 
 
  Ward Members 

consulted (referred to in report)
  

Yes 
Page 38



 
 
RECOMMENDATION: DEFER AND DELEGATE to the Chief Planning Officer for 
approval subject to the specified conditions identified below (and any others which he 
might consider appropriate) and also the completion of a S106 agreement. 
 
The S106 agreement is to include the following: 

- provision of 15% affordable housing; 
- £816,000- improvements to M62 Junction 28 with a 10% uplift provision; 
- £87,000 – improvements to A650/Common Lane; and 
- £111,000 – improvements to A650/A6029 Rein Road. 
- Travel Plan Fund £148,005 

 
In the event the S106 agreement has not been completed within three months of the 
panel resolution to grant planning permission, the final determination of the 
application shall be delegated to the Chief Planning Officer.   
 
 

 
Conditions 
 

1. Approval of reserved matters (layout, scale, appearance and landscaping) 
2. Time limit of five years for submission of Reserved Matters 
3. Approved Plans 
4. Phasing for ground works 
5. Up to 299 dwellings only 
6. Phasing 
7. Housing mix 
8. Space and mobility standards 
9. Green space provision 
10. Sustainability requirement carbon emission reduction 
11. Design code and landscaping masterplan 
12. Details of off-site highways works 
13. Footpath construction 
14. Visibility splays 
15. Vehicle space to be laid out 
16. Provision of EVCP 
17. Provision of cycle storage; 
18. Archaeology 
19. Flood risk and drainage 
20. Separate systems for foul and surface water 
21. Phase II ground investigations 
22. Remediation Statement  
23. Remediation Verification 
24. Construction management 
25. Construction time restrictions 
26. Construction facilities 
27. Ecological details 
28. Biodiversity management 
29. Landscape details 
30. Tree protection 

 
1.0      INTRODUCTION 
 

Page 39



 
1.1 This application was put forward to City Plans Panel for consideration on the 6th 

January 2020. The application was deferred by Members following concerns raised by 
Councillor Finnigan and Andrea Jenkyns MP regarding insufficient time following the 
Christmas period to scrutinise the case officer’s recommendation report and the 
Highway’s Technical Guidance that had been put on the application file. 
 

1.2 The outline planning application seeks permission for up to 299 dwellings and relates 
to two sites that are identified for housing in the adopted Site Allocation Plan (SAP). 
The two sites HG2-168 Haigh Wood, Ardsley North and HG2-169 Haigh Wood, 
Ardsley South sandwich Baghill Beck and Haigh Woods. The application was 
submitted in December 2017, but is only now coming forward for determination 
following the Council’s formal adoption of the SAP in July 2019.  

 
1.3 The application relates to an outline planning application and, as such, it should be 

made clear that the proposal relates to the principle of the development on the sites 
identified in the submitted location plan and the proposed accesses into them. Matters 
of scale, layout, landscaping and appearance are to be determined via separate 
Reserved Matters application(s), should approval be granted for this outline planning 
application. 

 
1.4 The application is presented to City Plans Panel as the scale, nature and location of 

the proposed development means it requires detailed consideration before Members.  
The scale of the proposal and its siting close to a strategic road network (M62, A653 
and A650 which are major contributory roads) raised significant concerns from 
Highways England and a holding response was imposed. The holding response has 
been lifted based on details submitted from the applicant, including contributions to be 
made for specific local highway improvements and future improvements to Junction 
28 of the M62.  

 
 
2.0      PROPOSAL: 
 
2.1 As noted above, this outline planning application proposes up to 299 dwellings within 

two sites that are allocated under the Council’s recently-adopted SAP, with associated 
works, creation of public open spaces, a nature reserve and wider accessibility and 
qualitative improvements. The developable parts of the two SAP sites are separated 
into four plots. The collective development of the four plots will facilitate the creation of 
various public open spaces and the enhancement and improvement to Haigh Wood 
and surrounding public rights of way. 

 
2.2 The outline application seeks approval for the use of the land for residential purposes 

and accesses into the four parcels of housing land including two principle accesses 
from Westerton Road and Haigh Moor Road; and three points of access from Upper 
Green Avenue, Sandringham Drive and Hill Top Lane.   

2.3 The site is split into four parcels of land that are to be developed, collectively 
supplying up to 299 dwellings which will range in size, type and tenure. (15% 
Affordable housing is proposed). The four parcels of land for development are to be 
accessed separately from one another by vehicles, however, open spaces and 
improvements to the woodlands in between the sites, would improve overall public 
access across the wider area.  

2.4 The largest of the four parcels of land is to the south of the wider site and accessed 
principally from Haigh Moor Road. However, it is indicatively shown that the 

Page 40



residential properties will be accessed from Hill Top Lane. It is considered that the 
southern parcel of land will provide circa 182 dwellings. 

2.5 To the northwest of the site a long narrow parcel of land is proposed to be developed 
with up to 57 dwellings. Sited to the south of Upper Green Avenue/ Upper Green 
Drive and north of Haigh Woods, access is proposed via an extension to the existing 
access road, Upper Green Avenue. Upper Green Avenue links to Westerton Road to 
the north. This part of the development site is currently used partly for agricultural 
purposes, although some land is unmanaged scrub and neutral grassland. 

2.6 The eastern parcel of land is to be accessed through Sandringham Drive (which in 
turn is accessed from Haigh Moor Road) and will create circa 32 dwellings. This 
parcel of land is currently in agricultural use. 

2.7 The northernmost parcel of land is to be accessed directly off Westerton Road and is 
currently used for agricultural purposes. The land is surrounded by a hedge and trees 
and it is proposed to develop the parcel of land with circa 28 dwellings. 

 
2.8 The application has been supported by an Illustrative Masterplan (ref: SK07) and a 

Landscape Accessibility and Green Infrastructure Masterplan which will inform and 
set out parameters for the Reserved Matters submissions that are proposed to deal 
with scale, layout, appearance and landscaping. The plans are illustrative of how 299 
dwellings could be laid out on the site and has been informed by a landscape 
architects, ecologists, engineers and arboriculturalists.  

 
  
3.0      SITE AND SURROUNDINGS: 

3.1 The application relates to two sites that have been allocated for housing use in the 
adopted SAP. The two sites sit to the north and south of Haigh Wood/ Baghill Beck 
and in the SAP are identified as amounting to 16.44 hectares. The proposed parcels 
of land identified for housing development within this application amounts to 13.54 
hectares of developed land. The proposed areas of land to be developed are 
completely within the redline boundaries of the sites approved in the SAP (site 
references HG2-168 and HG2-169). 

3.2 Collectively, the sites are located within West Ardsley, approximately 8 km south of 
Leeds city centre and 6km northwest of Wakefield city centre. The two SAP sites is 
approximately 1km south of the junction 28 of the M62 motorway and surrounded by 
the Westerton Road to the north, Haigh Moor Road to the east, Woolin Crescent and 
Hill Top Lane to the south and Baghill Road to the southwest. Although these roads 
are unclassified and defined as secondary distributor roads, they link to the more 
strategic A roads of Dewsbury Road and Bradford Road, which are less than 1km 
away. 

3.3 As previously described, the site is to be broken into four parcels for development.  
The land proposed for developing comprises of grassland, scrub, and agricultural 
land, albeit none of the land has recently been used for grazing.  This is set amongst 
a mixture of boundary treatments, including trees and hedging. Outside of the land 
identified for development, but in the ownership and control of the applicant, is Haigh 
Wood and Baghill Beck. 

3.4 The areas surrounding the site comprise of residential properties, interspersed by 
local facilities, including small shops, schools, public houses and other local 
community facilities. The areas of residential properties are interspersed with public 
open spaces and wider agricultural fields that are defined as Green Belt land. To the 

Page 41



east of Haigh Moor Road there is Ardsley Reservoir, whilst to the west – within the 
middle of this site – there is Baghill Beck and Haigh Woods. Various public footpaths 
cross the application site and link the residential streets with the wider public green 
spaces. There are some historic Grade II Listed buildings within the wider area, 
however, none are sited within the proposed development site. 

 

4.0      RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY: 

4.1 The following planning applications are considered most pertinent in relation to this 
planning application: 

4.2 23/539/02/OT – Outline application to erect residential development – Approved 
24.02.2003 

4.3 06/01180/RM – Laying out of access road and erection of 28 houses with landscaping 
– Approved 11.01.2007 

   
5.0      HISTORY OF NEGOTIATIONS: 
 
5.1 The applicant has been in extensive talks with the Local Planning Authority regarding 

issues relating to highway concerns, footpaths, the drainage strategy, overall layout 
and ecological/ biodiversity of the site.  Since the application was originally submitted 
in 2017, the applicant/ agent has been instrumental in discussions relating to the 
adoption of the SAP and attended the public hearings.  

 
5.2  Following on from the adoption of the SAP, the applicant has been in discussions with   

the Highways Authority and Highways England. Further investigations have been 
carried out into the impact of the proposal upon the highway network and costs of 
improvement works to significant surrounding junctions to mitigate against such 
impact. The work carried out has resulted in Highways England removing their holding 
response and the Highways Authority being satisfied that any cumulative impact will 
be mitigated through contributions towards junction improvements.  

 
6.0      PUBLIC/LOCAL RESPONSE: 
 
6.1 The development has been advertised by Site Notice posted on 23 February 2018 

and within the Yorkshire Evening Post on 12 January 2019. 
 
6.2 Since the submission of the application 3,424 representations have been received 

from public. The material planning considerations that have been raised in the 
objections can be summarised into the following: 

 
Principle of Development 

- The site is unsustainable and contrary to the aims of the NPPF  
- The proposal will have a negative impact upon the local community and the 

environment 
- There are plenty of other sites within the Leeds/ Wakefield areas that should be 

developed before this area is even considered 
- The development sacrifices Green Belt and there are empty buildings and brownfield 

land that could be used 
- The area has already seen great expansion of housing with no corresponding 

infrastructure 
- Tingley, West and East Ardsley have all been overdeveloped with housing 

Page 42



- The site is not sustainable or located within an accessible location adequately served 
by existing or programmed highway works 

- The site at the side of Upper Green Avenue was designated as a green space 
- In light of the Housing White Paper, further consideration of a lower housing 

requirement is needed and the Core Strategy Select Review needs to be concluded 
- This application is premature and should not be determined until a full review of the 

Site Allocation Plan has been made 
- If adopted in the SAP, the site should be developed comprehensively 
- There has not been consultation on the scope of works relating to CIL  
- The proposal does not meet the requirements of the Core Strategy, Unitary 

Development Plan or the NPPF 
- The area needs affordable housing not large 4-5 bedroomed dwellings 
- The developer is not contributing to local facilities in terms of health care and 

education 
- A climate emergency has been declared and this is a material consideration 

 
Traffic Issues 

- The roads in the village are busy enough already and at full capacity 
- The proposal does not take account of all the other developments and the cumulative  

traffic they generate, including a large housing site in Chidswell, amongst many others 
- The roads are excessively parked on, congested and therefore dangerous 
- Although speed limits on some road have been reduced to 20mph, people still speed 

and the roads have become very dangerous 
- The accesses are close to Hill Top School and the extra traffic will put children at risk 
- Public transport links are minimal and accessibility is poor – it does not meet the 

Councils own accessibility standards 
- The extra traffic will increase pollution - both noise and air 
- The goals set for public transport and bicycle use will not impact upon the numbers of 

cars in the area 
- The local Tesco Express on Westerton Road is the only local facility which attracts 

significant volumes of traffic 
- The roads are impassable at school drop off and pick up times because of 

inconsiderate parking 
- The traffic figures do not convey the true problem with traffic on the roads 
- Most traffic in the area has to navigate through the Tingley interchange, which is often 

affected by traffic from the M62 
- The access off Westerton Road is dangerous and accidents have occurred on this 

bend 
- Increased traffic onto the A650 and A653 that are already congested  
- Junctions in the area are already over capacity (Rein Road - Dewsbury Road - Syke 

Road, Smithy Lane - Bradford Road) or severely impacted at peak times (Westerton - 
Haigh Moor Road, Upper Green Way - Westerton, Westerton - Constable) 

- The site is not sustainable if people are having to use their cars more to access 
education and doctors facilities further away 

- Single access into the northern site is unacceptable as it leads from an existing cul-
de-sac 

- No cycle lanes are proposed and the natural tracks available now are to be removed. 
This does not encourage cycling 
 
Amenity Issues 

- Existing public facilities and infrastructure are barely coping with the existing number 
of residents 

- The local schools are already oversubscribed even after extensions have already 
been carried out 

- No support for young or elderly 
Page 43



- The doctors surgery cannot cope with the amount of patients as it is and it often takes 
4 or more weeks to get an appointment and there is no NHS dentist in the area 

- No mention of green spaces for children to play on  
- The construction would add to noise pollution and inconvenience local residents 
- Existing houses will lose their privacy and will be overshadowed 
- The proposal will impact upon the Lee Fair Gap Horse Fair and the areas cultural 

heritage 
- Increased crime and anti-social behavior 
- Internet speeds are already bad and more houses will make this worse. People can’t 

therefore work from home 
- There are potential land contamination issues not mentioned by the developer 
- Impact upon the local views and outlook 
- Construction noise and disturbance - restrictions on deliveries should be imposed 

should the proposal go ahead 
 

Design Issues 
- The drainage system is archaic and already struggles to cope with waste 
- The plans show the buildings very close to the existing houses  
- The design contravenes the 2009 Leeds City Council Design Guide where it states 

that 60 metres between junctions is required 
- The scale and massing of the proposed houses does not represent the characteristics 

of the wider area 
- Further information regarding the house designs is necessary 

 
Landscaping Environmental Issues 

- People value the open spaces and consider them to be part of their quality of life 
- There are minimal safe areas for children to play and the green spaces need to be 

replaced 
- Haigh Woods are frequently used by walkers and children  
- The proposal will severely impact upon local wildlife that needs special protection, 

including light intrusion  
- The proposal will impact upon the landscape and increase the risk of flooding 
- The public rights of way need to be protected 
- The proposal does not improve existing ecological systems, habitats or improve 

biodiversity 
- Although some footpaths are to be retained, they lose their attractiveness once close 

to the built environment 
- The area has N11 status and is a major visual amenity and stops the merging of 

existing developments 
- The proposal will mean the loss of a green buffer 
- Endanger the native bluebells 

 
The above comments have been taken into account and assessed in the subsequent 
report. 

 
6.3 Comments and concerns objecting to the proposal have been raised from Andrea 

Jenkyns MP and six Ward Councillors (Councilors Mulherin, Garner, Renshaw, Dunn, 
Dawson and Finnigan). The comments reiterate the comments that have been raised 
by the public and can be summarised as follows: 

 
- Further pressure on schools and health facilities 
- Lack of local amenities 
- Cumulative impact upon the highway network and dangerous accesses 
- Highways England’s concerns have not been satisfied 
- Lack of public transport 

Page 44



- Impact on small local roads 
- Impact/ pressure upon the local environment  
- Doesn’t meet local and national planning policies 

 
6.4 Comments have also been received from West Ardsley Action Group and Morley 

Town Council. Again, the comments raised reiterate the comments raised by the 
public, but can be summarised as follows: 

 
- Lack of housing need 
- Prematurity of releasing the site for housing 
- Conflicts with the development plan 
- Significant ecological and issues 
- Significant highway safety concerns and cumulative impact of traffic on the local and 

wider highway networks  
 
 
7.0 CONSULTATION RESPONSES:  
 
Highways England No Objection 
 
Flood Risk Management No objection in principle, but outstanding issues to be 

resolved  
 
Nature Team Ecological surveys are adequate, further agreement as 

to exact locations of green infrastructure and its long 
term management needed 

 
Highways Require cumulative impact contributions to mitigate 

potential impact upon Junction 28 of the M62, 
£816,000 with 10% uplift provision, £111,000 
A650/A6029 Rein Road and £87,000 A650/ Common 
Lane 

 
Landscape Raise concerns relating to distribution / typology of 

greenspaces and design of paths 
 
Children’s Services No education requirement made during the adoption of 

the SAP.     
 
Environmental Studies  Noise report required 
  
Planning Policy Principle acceptable, sites identified in the adopted 

SAP 
 
Travelwise Note the need for Residential Travel Plan Fund (RTPF) 

contributions (£148,005), Travel Plan, bus service 
contribution, and the need for cycle parking within 
residential plots.   

  
Contaminated Land No objection subject to conditions 
 
Coal Authority No objection subject to conditions 
 
Yorkshire Water No objection subject conditions 
 

Page 45



Neighbourhoods and Housing No objection subject to conditions 
 
West Yorkshire Police The proposal appears to meet Bronze/Silver Secured 

by Design  
 
West Yorkshire Archaeology Recommend conditions if minded to approve 
 
Public Rights of Way Footpath 81 would be better left as is. However, no 

overall objection and the new footpath is welcomed 
 
 
8.0 PLANNING POLICIES: 
 
8.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that 

planning applications are determined in accordance with the Development Plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan for Leeds 
comprises the Core Strategy (as amended 2019), Site Allocations Plan (adopted 
2019), saved policies within the Leeds Unitary Development Plan (Review 2006) and 
the Natural Resources and Waste Development Plan Document (2013) and any made 
Neighbourhood Development Plans (No Neighbourhood Development Plans are 
applicable here). 

 
8.2 It should be noted here, that Leeds City Council has made a declaration of a Climate 

Emergency and, that the overall aim of the Local Planning Authority’s Development 
Plan seeks to support this statement of intent. The Core Strategy and Unitary 
Development Plan seek to ensure that all development is sustainable and that 
wherever possible, a development minimises its impact upon global warming and its 
carbon emissions.  

  
9.0 Local Planning Policy 
 
 
9.1 The following Core Strategy policies are relevant to the proposal: 
 
  
 General Policy – Sustainable Development and the NPPF 
 Spatial Policy 1 – Location of Development 
 Spatial Policy 6 – The Housing Requirement and Allocation of Housing Land 
 Spatial Policy 7 – Distribution of Housing Land and Allocations 
 Spatial Policy 11 – Transport Infrastructure Investment Priorities 
 Spatial Policy 13 – Strategic Green Infrastructure 
 Policy H1 – Managed Release of Sites 

Policy H3 – Density of Residential Development 
Policy H4 – Housing Mix 
Policy H5 – Affordable Housing 
Policy H9 – Minimum Space Standards 
Policy H10 – Accessible Housing Standards 
Policy P10 – Design and context 
Policy P11 - Conservation 
Policy P12 – Landscape 
Policy T1 – Transport Management 
Policy T2 – Accessibility and New Development 
Policy G1 – Enhancing and Extending Green Infrastructure 
Policy G2 – Creation of Tree Cover 
Policy G3 – Standards for Open Space, Sport and Recreation 

Page 46



Policy G4 – New Greenspace Provision 
Policy G6 – Protection of Green Space 
Policy G8 – Protection of Important Species and Habitats 
Policy G9 – Biodiversity Improvements 
Policy EN1 – Climate Change (Carbon dioxide reduction in developments of 10 
houses or more, or 1000m2 of floor-space) 
Policy EN2 – Sustainable Design and Construction (Achievement of Code Level 4 
or BREEAM Excellent (in 2013) for developments of 10 houses or more or 1000m2 
of floor-space) 
Policy EN5 – Managing Flood Risk 
Policy EN8 – Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure 
Policy ID1 – Implementation and Delivery Mechanisms 
Policy ID2 – Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions 

 
 
9.2 The following saved UDPR policies are also relevant: 
  
 GP1 - Land use and the Proposals Map 
 GP5 - Development control considerations including impact on amenity 

BD5 - New buildings 
LD1 - Landscape design 
LD2 - New and altered roads 
N1 - Protection of Urban Green Space 
N8 - Urban Green Corridors 
N9 - Urban Green Corridors and Development 
N11 – Open Land in Built Up Areas 
N23 - Incidental Open Space 
N24 - Development and Incidental Open Space 
N25 - Site boundaries 

   N29 - Sites of Archaeological Importance 
   LD1 - Development and landscape schemes 
 
 
9.3 The following NRWLP policies are also relevant: 
 
 Air 1  Major development proposals to incorporate low emission measures 
 Minerals 3 Development proposals and surface coal 
 Water 1 Water efficiency, including incorporation of sustainable drainage 
 Water 4 Effect of proposed development on flood risk 
  Water 6 Flood risk assessment 
  Water 7 Surface water run-off and incorporation of SUDs 
  Land 1 Contaminated Land 
  Land 2 Development and Trees including the need to conserve trees and 

introduce new tree planting 
 
9.4 The sites are not phased within the SAP and, following its adoption in July 2019, the 

SAP is a significant material consideration in the planning decision-making process 
and forms part of the local plan for the Leeds Metropolitan area.  

 
9.5 The two sites within the SAP are designated for housing under reference numbers 

HG2-168 Haigh Wood, Ardsley North and HG2-169 Haigh Wood, Ardsley South. The 
two adopted housing allocation sites are subject to specific site requirements relating 
to ecology, cumulative highway impact assessments and assessment of existing 
culverts.  

 
Page 47



10.0 Relevant Local Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents 
 
10.1 The most relevant local supplementary planning guidance (SPG) and supplementary 

planning documents (SPD) are outlined below: 
 

Sustainable Urban Drainage SPG (2004)  
Public Transport Improvements and Developer Contributions SPD (August 2008) 
Street Design Guide SPD (August 2009)  
Travel Plans SPD (February 2015) 
Parking SPD (January 2016) 

   Accessible Leeds SPD (November 2016) 
Affordable Housing SPG (Interim Policy) 

 
11.0 National Planning Policy 
 
11.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (2019) (NPPF) sets out the Government’s 

planning policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. The NPPF 
must be taken into account in the preparation of local and neighbourhood plans, and 
is a material consideration in planning decisions.  One of the key principles at the 
heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable development. 

 
11.2 Paragraph 7 of the NPPF states that the purpose of the planning system is to 

contribute to the achievement of sustainable development. Paragraph 8 goes on to 
note that achieving sustainable development means that the planning system has 
three overarching objectives - economic, social and environmental objectives – which 
are interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually supportive ways. 

 
11.3 Paragraph 10 sets out that at the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of 

sustainable development. Paragraph 11 states that decision taking this means 
approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan 
without delay. Paragraph 12 states that the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development does not change the statutory status of the development plan as the 
starting point for decision making. 

 
11.4 Paragraph 48 sets out that in decision taking local planning authorities may give 

weight to relevant policies in emerging plans according to the stage of its preparation, 
the extent to which there are unresolved objections and the degree of consistency 
with the NPPF. 

 
11.5 Paragraph 56 sets out that planning obligations must only be sought where they are 

necessary, directly related to the development, and fairly and reasonably related in 
scale and kind to the development. Paragraph 57 sets out that where up-to-date 
policies have set out the contributions expected from development, planning 
applications that comply with them should be assumed to be viable. 

 
11.6 Section 5 of the NPPF is entitled ‘Delivering a sufficient supply of homes’. Paragraph 

73 sets out that local planning authorities should identify and update annually a supply 
of specific deliverable sites sufficient to provide a minimum of five years worth of 
housing. 

 
11.7 Section 8 of the NPPF is entitled ‘Promoting healthy and safe communities’ and sets 

out at paragraph 91 that planning decisions should aim to achieve healthy, inclusive 
and safe places including encouraging layouts that would encourage walking and 
cycling. Paragraph 92 requires planning decisions to take into account and support 
the delivery of local strategies to improve health, social and cultural well-being for all 

Page 48



sections of the community. Paragraph 96 sets out that access to a network of high 
quality open spaces and opportunities for sport and physical activity is important for 
the health and well-being of communities. Paragraph 98 sets out that planning 
decisions should protect and enhance public rights of way and access. 

 
11.8 Section 9 of the NPPF is entitled ‘Promoting sustainable transport’ and sets out at 

paragraph 102 that transport issues should be considered from the earliest stage of 
development proposals including opportunities to promote walking, cycling and public 
transport. Paragraph 102 also sets out that the environmental impacts of traffic and 
transport infrastructure can be identified, assessed and taken into account and that 
patterns of movement, streets, parking and other transport considerations are integral 
to the design of schemes, and contribute to making high quality places. 

 
11.9 Paragraph 108 states that appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable transport 

modes should be taken up; safe and suitable access provided for all users; and any 
significant impacts on the highway mitigated.   

 
11.10 Paragraph 109 states the development should only be prevented or refused on 

highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the 
residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe. Within this context, 
paragraph 110 sets out, amongst other things, that development should give priority 
to pedestrian and cycle movements both within the scheme and with neighbouring 
areas, minimize the scope for conflicts between pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles and 
be designed to enable charging of plug-in and other ultra-low emission vehicles in 
safe, accessible and convenient locations. 

 
11.11 Paragraph 111 states that all developments that will generate significant amounts of 

movement should be required to provide a travel plan. 
 
11.12 Section 11 of the NPPF is entitled ‘Making effective use of land’ and at paragraph 117 

sets out that planning decisions should promote an effective use of land in meeting 
the need for homes and other uses, whilst safeguarding and improving the 
environment and ensuring safe and healthy living conditions. 

 
11.13 Section 12 of the NPPF is entitled ‘Achieving well-designed places’ and at paragraph 

124 states that the creation of high quality buildings and places is fundamental to 
what the planning and development process should achieve. Paragraph 124 goes on 
to state that good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better 
places in which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to 
communities. 

 
11.14 Paragraph 127, amongst other things, states that planning decisions should ensure 

development is visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and 
appropriate and effective landscaping. Paragraph 129 sets out that in assessing 
planning applications, local planning authorities should have regard to the outcome of 
design discussions, including with the local community. 

 
11.15 Paragraph 130 states that permission should be refused for development of poor 

design that fails to take the opportunities available for improving the character and 
quality of an area and the way it functions, taking into account any local design 
standards or style guides in plans or supplementary planning documents.  

 
11.16 Section 14 of the NPPF is entitled ‘Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding 

and coastal change and at paragraph 148 sets out that the planning system should 
support the transition to a low carbon future in a changing climate. 

Page 49



 
11.17 Section 15 of the NPPF is entitled ‘Conserving and enhancing the natural 

environment’. Paragraph 170 states that planning decisions should contribute to and 
enhance the natural and local environment including through minimising impacts and 
providing net gains for biodiversity, including by establishing coherent ecological 
networks that are more resilient to current and future pressures. 

 
11.18 Section 16 of the NPPF is entitled ‘Conserving and enhancing the historic 

environment’. Paragraph 184 states that heritage assets are an irreplaceable 
resource and should be conserved in a manner appropriate their significance, so that 
they can be enjoyed for the contribution to the quality of life of existing and future 
generations. Paragraph 193 states that when considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should 
be given to the asset’s conservation. 

 
 
12.0 National Planning Practice Guidance 
 
12.1 The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) offers guidance in addition to the 

NPPF. 
 
12.2 The NPPG advises that reserved matters are those aspects of a proposed 

development which an applicant can choose not to submit details of at outline 
planning application stage (i.e. that can be ‘reserved’ for later determination). These 
reserved matters are defined in Article 2 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) as: 

 
• ‘Access’ – the accessibility to and within the site, for vehicles, cycles and 

pedestrians in terms of the positioning and treatment of access and circulation 
routes and how these fit into the surrounding access network. 

• ‘Appearance’ – the aspects of a building or place within the development 
which determine the visual impression the building or place makes, including 
the external built form of the development, its architecture, materials, 
decoration, lighting, colour and texture. 

• ‘Landscaping’ – the treatment of land (other than buildings) for the purpose of 
enhancing or protecting the amenities of the site and the area in which it is 
situated and includes: (a) screening by fences, walls or other means; (b) the 
planting of trees, hedges, shrubs or grass; (c) the formation of banks, terraces 
or other earthworks; (d) the laying out or provision of gardens, courts, 
squares, water features, sculpture or public art; and (e) the provision of other 
amenity features; 

• ‘Layout’ – the way in which buildings, routes and open spaces within the 
development are provided, situated and orientated in relation to each other 
and to buildings and spaces outside the development. 

• ‘Scale’ – the height, width and length of each building proposed within the 
development in relation to its surroundings. 

In this particular instance, all matters are reserved for later determination, apart from access. 
 
 
13.0 MAIN ISSUES 
 

1) Principle of Development 
2) Highway Matters 
3) Public Rights of Way 

Page 50



4) Flood Risk and Drainage 
5) Landscape Character / Landscape Quality / Heritage Assets 
6) Layout / Visual Amenity / Residential Amenity 
7) Education and Healthcare Provision 
8) Planning Obligations and CIL 

 
 
14.0 APPRAISAL 
 
 Principle of Development 
 
14.1 In line with the NPPF, the Local Planning Authority has identified a five year supply of 

housing and therefore has an up to date Local Plan. Underpinning this is the Site 
Allocation Plan, which has been scrutinised by the Secretary of State and is the 
foundation for identifying and releasing housing sites that make up the housing supply 
for the Development Plan period. The allocated sites HG2-168 and HG2-169 are 
acceptable in principle, subject to any proposal being found acceptable with regards 
to all other local planning policies.  

 
14.2 Although the principle of development has been identified in the SAP as sustainable 

and acceptable, the following issues relate to the principle of development and are 
planning considerations that informed the adoption of the SAP. 

 
14.3 Policy SP1 of the Core Strategy seeks to promote the most sustainable forms of 

development, seeking the development of brownfield land over greenfield, and 
adopting a hierarchical spatial approach to the location of development which 
promotes development in urban areas first and rural areas last.  Policies SP6 and 
SP7 set broad targets for the quantum and distribution of housing land throughout the 
city, and policy H1 commits to the delivery of allocated housing sites.   

 
14.4 Policy SP1 does not preclude development within such smaller settlements as long as 

the scale of growth has regard to the settlement’s size, function and sustainability.  In 
this case, the application sites are not considered to be excessively large, which in the 
context of the wider settlement of East Ardsley, is not considered to exceed the 
settlement’s size, function and sustainability.   

 
14.5 This application is considered to represent a ‘rounding-off’ of part of the wider 

settlement, whilst presenting an opportunity to improve upon the existing wood land 
and beck that separates the two identified development sites.   

 
14.6 The site is, and has been acknowledged through the SAP, as being a sustainable 

location that sufficiently complies with the Council’s Accessibility Standards. During 
the SAP adoption process, the issue of sustainability was rigorously scrutinized and 
sustainability appraisals were undertaken. It is deemed to be within a sustainable 
location within the boundary of the settlement of West Ardsley with suitable access to 
local services and facilities and public transport, and access to larger neighbouring 
settlements.  

 
14.7 Spatial Policy 6 (ii) does express a preference for brownfield, which this site is not. 

However, the proposal would have the least impact on the wider surrounding green 
infrastructure as, although a proportion of this green field land is to be developed, it is 
surrounded by woodland where significant mitigation measures (landscape and 
biodiversity management plan) will ensure are enhancement to offset the impact of 
the development. The proposed housing will not therefore be overly conspicuous from 
the wider area and the use of an allocated housing site will ensure that the 

Page 51



Development Plan is properly implemented so as not to undermine the overarching 
Green Belt policies that protect areas of land within the wider area.  With regard to 
design (iv), this is assessed fully in the report below, however, it is considered that the 
scheme will reinforce the character of the existing built surrounding residential area.  
In terms of construction (v) it is understood that the development could be started 
immediately.  The impacts with regard to nature conservation (vi) and flood risk (vii) 
have been fully considered and are addressed in the report below but none of these 
issues are considered to preclude development commencing in accordance with 
Spatial Policy 6.   

 
14.8 Spatial Policy 7 considers the distribution of housing across the City and identifies the 

provision of 5,714 dwellings (11% of the 51,952) within the Outer South area within 
which the application site lies.  This application, if granted, would result in a medium 
sized housing development in the short to medium term, which would contribute to 
overall housing delivery across the City.  

 
14.9 With specific regard to the managed release of sites, Policy H1 of the Adopted Core 

Strategy confirms that the LDF Allocations Documents will phase the release of 
allocations.  This is to ensure sufficiency of supply, geographical distribution in 
accordance with Spatial Policy 7, and the achievement of a previously development 
land target of 65% for the first five years and 55% thereafter and the following five 
criteria:  

 
i. Location in regeneration areas, 
ii. Locations which have the best public transport accessibility, 
iii. Locations with the best accessibility to local services, 
iv. Locations with least impact on Green Belt objectives, 
v. Sites with least negative and most positive impacts on existing and proposed 

green infrastructure, green corridors, green space and nature conservation. 
 
14.10 Policy H1 seek to ensure that housing areas are in sustainable locations, are 

managed and phased in a timely manner consistent with the spatial priorities of the 
Plan, provide an appropriate balance of brownfield and greenfield sites, make best 
use of current and planned infrastructure and those sites that are sequentially less 
preferable are released only when needed.  This is consistent with the objectives of 
the NPPF including the need to meet objectively assessed needs for market and 
affordable housing, identify and maintain a supply of 5 years’ worth of deliverable 
sites and identify a supply of specific developable sites over the Plan period.   

 

14.11 As outlined above, the proposal will have a limited impact upon the wider green 
infrastructure and the Green Belt areas defined west of Baghill Road and east of 
Haigh Moor Road. This is considered to be the case given the location of the site and 
the developments main back drop being the residential estates to the north and south. 
As the proposal will not detrimentally impact upon the woodland to the south - as it will 
be discussed in the subsequent report - the proposal will not impact upon the green 
and open character that defines the wider surrounding areas to an unacceptable level 
that would warrant a refusal of planning permission.  

 
14.12 Owing to the aforementioned paragraphs, it is also considered to be the case that as 

the low density proposal will enhance the wider green network and not adversely 
affect the open character of the area, ensuring the proposal also accords with saved 
UDPR policy N11.    

 

Page 52



14.13 With regard to H1 above, with mitigation measures secured through conditions and a 
legal agreement, the proposal is not considered to compromise the surrounding green 
infrastructure, significantly impact upon the wider Green Belt and is sustainable and 
accessible. It is also noted, and reiterated here, that these views reflect the adoption 
of the sites within the SAP.  

 
 
 Housing Density, Mix and Space/ Mobility Standards 

 
14.14 Policy H3 of the Adopted Core Strategy relates to the appropriate density of 

development and advises that housing development in Leeds should meet or exceed 
the relevant net densities unless there are overriding reasons concerning townscape, 
character, design or highway capacity.  In this case, as a ‘smaller settlement area’ a 
minimum density of 30 dwellings per hectare is required to comply with Policy H3.  
Based on the proposed number of dwellings and the site being 13.54 hectares in size, 
the site delivers a density of approximately 23 dwellings per hectare. Although the 
density is slightly below the minimum density target, it is consistent with the form of 
surrounding residential development and acceptable with regards to the Core 
Strategy as it reflects the wider rural area. As the application is for outline consent for 
access only, the proposal should be conditioned to ensure that any Reserved Matters 
application achieve appropriate density figures.  

 
14.15 With regard to housing mix, Core Strategy Policy H4 advises that developments 

should include an appropriate mix of dwelling types and sizes to address needs 
measured over the long term taking into account the nature of the development and 
the character of the location.  It is noted that the Masterplan that has been submitted 
as part of this application is indicative only and the mix targeted in policy H4 will be 
the subject to a condition, similar to policy H3.  

 
14.16 Again, at this stage, whilst the proposal is only to approve access and the principle of 

up to 299 dwellings, policies H9 and H10 relating to space standards and mobility 
standards should be the subject of conditions to ensure that any Reserved Matters 
applications are compliant with such policies when further detailed design are 
progressed.   

 
14.17 Policies H3, H4, H9 and H10 are at the heart of whether the proposal can be 

considered acceptable in principle; however, as the application is for outline consent, 
specifics relating to these policies have not been submitted. As the applicant has 
agreed to conditions relating to future Reserved Matters applications complying with 
policies H3, H4, H9 and H10, it is considered that the principle of housing can be 
considered to be acceptable subject to these details being the subject of conditions.  

 Affordable Housing 

14.18 Policy H5 of the Adopted Core Strategy sets out the requirement for on-site affordable 
housing, which is expected to comprise 15% of the development in this part of the 
City.  The applicant has advised that the scheme will deliver 15% affordable housing 
in accordance with Policy H5 (equating to 45 units). This provision will be secured by 
means of a Section 106 Legal Agreement and ensures compliance with Policy H5.  

 
           Summary of Principle of Development 
 
14.19 The land is a greenfield site and, thus should be of the lowest priority for development 

when applying policy SP1. However, the land proposed for development accords with 
Page 53



two key strategic allocations for housing within the SAP and, as such, significant 
material weight has to be given to these allocations.  

 
14.20 As the adoption of the SAP was not subject to any phasing and, in light of the above 

policies, the proposal is considered to be in accordance with the up to date local plan 
and aims and principles of the NPPF, subject to the delivery of the key site 
requirements identified within the SAP as the sites come forward for development. 

  
 
15.0 Highways Matters  
 
15.1 Policy T2 of the Core Strategy requires that development proposals adequately 

address highway safety and accessibility.  These policies are in accordance with 
section 9 of the Framework which promotes sustainable transport.    

 
15.2 The proposal seeks outline consent with access being the only matter not reserved as 

the subject matter of future applications. The accesses proposed comprise two 
principle accesses from Westerton Road and Haigh Moor Road; and three points of 
access from Upper Green Avenue, Sandringham Drive and Hill Top Lane.    

 
15.3 In relation to Core Strategy accessibility standards, as previously discussed, the site 

is considered to be accessible and sustainable as determined by the adoption of the 
SAP. Full weight is given to this. In relation to highways issues, the proposal needs to 
meet the requirements of the SAP and demonstrate that the proposed accesses are 
safe. 

 
15.4 In terms of the principle accesses into the site via Westerton Road and Haigh Moor 

Road, these accesses are considered to be acceptable because: 
 

- A speed survey was undertaken on 12/12/2018 between the period 13:30 – 15:30 
hours at Westerton Road, which covered the school peak period. Drawing no. 12-
199-TR-007 Rev B shows the visibility splay at the proposed access junction 
which is commensurate with the speed of vehicles on the Westerton Road. The 
area of land within the visibility splay both to the left and to the right of the access 
on to Westerton Road should be laid out as footway and this can be secured 
through condition.   

 
- A speed survey was undertaken on 13/12/2018 between 08:30 – 11:15 hours at 

Haigh Moor Road, which covered the AM peak. Drawing no. 12-199-TR-008 Rev 
B indicates the revised access on to Haigh Moor Road with the required visibility 
splay commensurate with the speed of vehicles on Haigh Moor Road. In view of 
the visibility splays indicated drawing no. 12-199-TR-008 Rev B the proposal does 
not give rise to any significant highway safety concerns. 

 
15.5 In terms of accesses into the site via existing roads, these are considered to be 

acceptable because: 
 

- Drawing no. 12/199/TR/010 indicates the proposed access from Hill Top Lane (via 
a junction from Batley Road).  The access will be an extension of the existing 
carriageway. The geometry of the existing carriageway is 5.5m wide with 2m wide 
and 1.8m wide footways at the west and east flanks respectively. The existing 
road width allows two-way vehicle passing.  The visibility from Hill Top Lane on to 
Batley Road is good and therefore the intensification is not considered to result in 
any severe highway safety concerns.   

 
Page 54



- Drawing no. 12/199/TR/011 indicates the proposed access from Sandringham 
Drive (via a junction with Haigh Moor Road).  The access will be an extension of 
the existing carriageway. The geometry of the existing carriageway at 5.5m wide 
with 1.8 m footways at either flank allows two-way vehicle passing.  Whilst the 
proposed access arrangements will result in longer cul-de-sacs, the visibility at the 
Sandringham Drive/Haigh Moor Road junction is acceptable.  There is on-street 
parking at Haigh Moor Road although this is not considered to significantly 
exacerbated as a result of the proposal. 

 
- Upper Green Avenue (via junctions from Upper Green Way and Westerton Road) 

Drawing no. 12/199/TR/012 indicates the proposed access from Upper Green 
Avenue.  The access will be an extension of the existing carriageway. The 
geometry of the existing carriageway at 5.5m wide with 1.8 m footways at either 
flank allows two-way vehicle passing.  Whilst the proposed access arrangements 
will result in a longer cul-de-sac the visibility at the Upper Green Avenue/ Upper 
Green Way junction is good.  Whilst the technical note indicates the on-site 
observations indicate limited evidence of on-street parking on the existing streets, 
it is noted from Officer’s observations that the location of Westerton Primary 
Academy in the vicinity of the site results in the surrounding streets experiencing 
on-street parking during the school drop off/pick up period. The issue is an existing 
problem that happens for short periods of time and, although there may be a slight 
increase in such short term parking, it is not considered that such parking would 
be made significantly worse as a result of the proposal, especially to the extent 
that severe highway safety concerns are likely to arise. 

 
 
15.6 The SAP allocations acknowledge that the proposal will have a cumulative impact 

upon junctions A650/ Common Lane, A653/ Rein Road and junction 28 of the M62 
(Tingley roundabout). There is, therefore, a requirement that any proposal will have to 
contribute to appropriate mitigation measures in the form of junction capacity 
improvements, taking into account the cumulative impact of developments in the 
wider surrounding area.  

 
15.7 The application has been submitted with a Transport Assessment and supplementary 

Technical Note, further to the initial comments made by the Local Highways Authority. 
The assessment has looked at trip generation, network capacity, reported accidents, 
junction analysis and was the basis for understanding the wider cumulative impact on 
the main surrounding junctions. The TA identifies that all the priority junctions 
assessed around the site area will operate within capacity, however, problems arise 
with traffic signal junctions on the A650 and the A653. Since the TA was initially 
submitted, further discussions have been held between the Highways Authority, 
Highways England, Kirklees Local Authority and the applicant regarding what 
mitigation measures can be deployed and what is proportionate to a development of 
this scale.  

 
15.8 In line with the SAP requirements, the applicant has assessed the impact of the 

proposal upon the highway network and the following contributions are proposed 
towards junction capacity improvements. These proposed contributions are 
considered proportionate to the cumulative impact attributed to the development and 
can be secured by a legal agreement. The contributions will amount to no less than: 

 
- £816,000- M62 Junction 28 with a 10% uplift provision; 
- £87,000 - A650/Common Lane; and 
- £111,000 - A650/A6039 Rein Road. 

 
Page 55



15.9 The SAP has preceded the adoption of a Supplementary Planning Document that will 
outline how the cumulative impact policy will be calculated. In the interim, each 
application has to be assessed on its own individual merits. The proposed 
contributions are considered proportionate to the impact of the proposal upon the 
sites surrounding highway network and meet the tests for Section 106 legal 
agreements. 

 
15.10 Highways England have lifted their original holding response to the application as it is 

now considered that the proposed contributions towards local mitigation works and, 
those at junction 28, are commensurate with the assessed impact of the proposal on 
the highways network.  

 
15.11 The provision of internal access points and access roads does not form part of the 

detailed consideration of this application, and thus is a matter that will be conditioned 
to be dealt with at the Reserved Matter stage.  As the indicative master plan does not 
include the full extent of the SAP sites any Reserved Matters applications will have to 
demonstrate that the internal road layouts do not prejudice the future development of 
the remaining portions of the site.  

 
15.12 Consideration of parking provision for individual dwellings is a detail that will be dealt 

with at Reserved Matters stage and, provision of Electric Vehicle Charging Points 
(EVCP), retention of parking and cycle storage within plots will be conditioned.   

 
15.13 In light of the above, subject to contributions towards the offsite highway works, and 

detailed consideration of all other highway matters at reserved matters stage, the 
development is considered acceptable in highway safety and accessibility terms.   

 
16.0 Public Rights of Way 
 
16.1 The two SAP sites, and the wider Haigh Woods, are linked currently by four 

established footpaths. The definitive footpath no.108 starts from Batley Road and 
extends northeast up to Upper Green Close. Footpaths 107 and 81 link Haigh Moor 
Road with no.108, merging just before Baghill Beck. The defined footpaths skirt the 
edge of Haigh Woods, although there are informal footpaths within the woods.  

 
16.2 The proposal seeks to improve and enhance access through existing and proposed 

residential and open space areas. It is proposed to create a further footpath through 
the woods and manage the woods and open spaces to improve the overall 
biodiversity of the site and wider area. The proposal is considered to make the 
existing spaces more accessible, whilst improving the quality and biodiversity of the 
existing spaces.  

 
 
16.0 Drainage and Flood Risk Management 
 
16.1 As noted above (site and surroundings) the parcels of land for development are sited 

up on either side to Haigh Woods. The site is a Flood Zone 1 as defined by the EA 
flood maps. A section of Baghill Beck is culverted and a drainage scheme will seek to 
ensure that this is not adversely affected. The proposal seeks to use attenuation 
systems to reduce run-off from the site to agreed discharge rates of 4.7 l/s/ha to 
ensure no increase in flood risk downstream. Such a strategy is achievable on the 
site, and thus subject to clarification of the drainage strategy by conditions, the 
development is considered acceptable in this regard.   

 
Page 56



17.0 Landscape Character / Landscape Quality / Heritage Assets 
 
17.1 Section 12 of the NPPF highlights the importance of good design, and paragraph 127 

provides a series of principles that should be followed to ensure developments are of 
good quality.   Authorities are encouraged to refuse “development of poor design that 
fails to take the opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an 
area and the way it functions.  Policy P10 of the Core Strategy seek to ensure that 
new development is of high quality and is appropriate to its context whilst policy P12 
seeks to protect the character, quality and biodiversity of Leeds’ townscapes and 
landscapes.  Section 13 of the NPPF requires the protection of heritage assets and 
this is replicated within policy P11 of the Core Strategy.  In order to be acceptable 
development should not harm either the landscape or heritage value of an area and 
these will be discussed in turn.  

 
 Landscape Character  

 
17.2 The site is visible within the surrounding landscape, being set up on either side of 

Baghill Beck.  The sites surround the woodlands and agricultural fields through which 
footpaths and tracks have been created.  The main section of woodland through the 
site is of clear habitat value and has significant visual and ecological value. The 
immediate context and main function of the site in landscape terms is in ensuring that 
the amenity areas of the central wooded area and the beck retain an appropriate 
setting and that the quality of these is not degraded through becoming overly 
urbanised.   

 
17.3 The development of the site for housing will undoubtedly alter the character and 

quality of the land, changing it from a semi-rural environment of agricultural fields and 
woodlands to an urbanised housing estate.   However whilst this change will result in 
some harm to the semi-rural character of the wider area, from the crucial areas 
around the woodland and beck this change will not be overly perceptible given the 
housing will blend/ extend the existing urban pattern. Although the changes will 
undoubtedly be visible from various vistas, the enhancements to the woodlands and 
the incorporation of public open spaces within the proposed estate respect the 
prevailing character of the existing settlement and its surroundings. As such, the 
visual intrusion is considered to be minimised and the proposal is not considered to 
impinge upon the character of the area.  

 
 Landscape Quality 
 
17.4 Policies G8 and G9 of the Core Strategy, Saved UDP policy LD1 as well as Land 2 of 

the NRWLP all seek to ensure that Leeds’s landscapes, green infrastructure and 
biodiversity are protected and enhanced.   

 
17.5 The proposal has been assimilated into the wider general landscape, with the 

proposed areas for development being on the less steep slopes of the valley. 
Significant provisions for public spaces within the proposed estates and significant 
improvements to the existing woodlands in terms of enhancements and long term 
management plans will improve the balance and access between nature conservation 
and more recreational areas. Additional footpaths are proposed to improve the links 
between all areas of the site, whilst maintaining wider wildlife habitat settings. 

 
17.6 The open spaces will include trim trails and the nature reserve areas will include 

interpretation boards to provide clear information about the habitats and flora and 
fauna. The proposal, subject to conditions and a legal agreement, will secure 

Page 57



significant improvements to the quality of the natural environment and the way in 
which it is managed and maintained. 

 
 Heritage 

 
17.7 As noted above (site and surroundings) the wider site context includes a number of 

listed buildings.  S72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990 places a statutory duty upon the decision maker to pay special attention to the 
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of listed buildings.  
This statutory framework is reinforced by the NPPF at Section 12 and Core Strategy 
policy P11 reflects this special duty, seeking to ensure that development is 
appropriate to its context and preserves the city’s heritage assets.   

 
17.8 The listed buildings are set within the existing urban grain and the proposal is not 

considered to fundamentally alter the character and landscape form to the extent that 
substantial harm to the setting of the listed buildings would be caused. 

 
17.9 Although the Lee Gap Horse Fair is sited on a field proposed to be developed as part 

of this application, the site itself does not hold significant heritage value, given that 
other surrounding fields are also believed to have been used. The site itself is not 
protected and no planning legislation could prevent the land owner from refusing 
access if they so wished. Although it would be regrettable should the Fair cease 
altogether, it is a civil matter between the organisers and local land owners to find an 
alternative venue close by. 

 
17.10 An archaeological and heritage desk based survey has been carried out and no 

constraints have been identified that cannot be mitigated through the imposition of a 
planning condition. Accordingly, the proposal in this regard is considered to be 
acceptable in terms of local and national planning policies. 

 
 
  Layout / Visual Amenity / Residential Amenity 
  
17.11 It is also important to consider the architectural and spatial character of the proposed 

development.  Although the application is only in outline, an indicative master plan 
has been submitted which identifies a hierarchy of streets and spaces and seeks to 
demonstrate that the development can deliver up to 299 dwellings.  Although this 
master plan is only indicative, it is clear from the submitted information that the 
development is not likely to be dense, with areas of open space provided by the 
existing woodland and spaces in and around the site.  

 
17.12 At this stage, the exact mix of housing has not been determined and the house types 

and sizes will be the subject of conditions and come forward via reserved matters 
application(s).. Approval of this application will set the parameters of the development 
in so far as the Masterplan indicates the main accesses and the Green Infrastructure 
Masterplan outlines the identified areas for green spaces and biodiversity 
enhancement. Detailed layouts including garden sizes, room sizes, provision of 
accessible dwellings and consideration of overlooking, overdominance and 
overshadowing will all be considered at Reserved Matters stage. 

 
17.13 The density of the proposed scheme is slightly less than Policy H3 targets. However, 

the density will reflect the character of the area and ensure that the layout can reflect 
the immediate surrounding residential areas. The visual amenity of the street is to be 
enhanced with public green spaces being interspersed throughout the various parcels 
of development.   

Page 58



 
17.14 The noise impact assessment has been carried out across the sites.  These matters 

have been considered within the submitted information and it is considered that the 
proposal will ensure an adequate standard of amenity.   

 
17.15 An air quality assessment was commissioned and submitted as part of this planning 

application. On review of the findings, air quality impacts from traffic generation were 
predicted to have a negligible impact at all sensitive receptor locations. These findings 
were related to monitoring and dispersion modelling assessments in accordance with 
national guidance from the Institute of Air Quality Management. 

 
17.16 In light of the above, in order to create a well-balanced community it will also be 

necessary for the development to adequately address housing mix and space 
standard policies, accommodate dwellings to assist independent living in accordance 
with H8 and provide the requisite level of affordable housing.  These will be 
conditioned or delivered through the S106 agreement as appropriate.   

 
  
18.0 Education and Healthcare Provision 
 
18.1   The proposal has generated significant numbers of objections to this proposal and 

a key theme through the representations is the lack of infrastructure already in the 
area, and the additional pressure this proposal will have on it. Two key issues are the 
lack of education and healthcare provisions, which are discussed below. 

 
18.2 With regard to health infrastructure (including Doctor and Dentist services) the 

provision of healthcare facilities falls within the remit of NHS England and at a local 
level, Leeds’ three Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs). Existing practices 
determine for themselves (as independent businesses) whether to recruit additional 
clinicians in the event of their practice registered list growing. Practices can also 
consider other means to deal with increased patient numbers, including increasing 
surgery hours but it is for individual practices to determine how they run their 
business.  Practices consult with the NHS about funding for expansion albeit that 
funding is limited.   

 
18.3 With regard to education provision, the SAP process considered whether 

contributions towards additional education provision were necessary in respect of 
development of these allocated sites. Although it is acknowledged that there is a 
shortage of school places (both primary and secondary schools), other sites within the 
locality have been identified as future school sites and this was taken into account 
during the examination of the SAP. Accordingly, it was concluded during the SAP 
examination that no education contributions were required / arose specifically as a 
consequence of development at this location. However, it should be noted that this 
application will be subject to the Community Infrastructure Levy, which can contribute 
towards the provision of infrastructure within the locality including primary and 
secondary education.  

 
18.4 The issues of health and education infrastructure are considered above and it is 

concluded that, given the scale of development, a refusal on the grounds of the 
scheme exceeding the capacity of existing health and education infrastructure cannot 
be substantiated.  

 
 
19.0  Sustainability & Climate Change 
 

Page 59



19.1 The Council declared a climate emergency on the 27th March 2019 in response to the 
UN’s report on Climate Change. 

 
19.2 The Planning Act 2008, alongside the Climate Change Act 2008, sets out that climate 

mitigation and adaptation are central principles of plan-making. The NPPF makes 
clear at paragraph 148 and footnote 48 that the planning system should help to shape 
places in ways that contribute to radical reductions in greenhouse gas emissions in 
line with the objectives of the Climate Change Act 2008. 

 
19.3 As part of the Council’s Best Council Plan 2019/20 to 2020/21, the Council seeks to 

promote a less wasteful, low carbon economy. The Council’s Development Plan 
includes a number of planning policies which seek to meet this aim, as does the 
NPPF. These are material planning considerations in determining planning 
applications. 

 
19.4 Further to above, the applicant has recognised the Council’s position in relation to 

reducing the carbon emissions and any proposal will be subject to conditions, 
ensuring that the proposal is compliant with Core Strategy policies EN1, EN2 and 
EN8. Such conditions, are also complemented with the proposal’s provision of 
extensive new tree planting and the enhancements to the wider green infrastructure. 
The above commitments will result in considerable benefits in respect of climate 
change matters. 

 
 
20.0 Planning Obligations and CIL 
 
20.1 A legal test for the imposition of planning obligations was introduced by the 

Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended in 2019).  These 
provide that a planning obligation may only constitute a reason for granting planning 
permission for the development if the obligation is: 

   
(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms, 
(b) directly related to the development; and 
(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

 
20.2 According to the guidance, unacceptable development should not be permitted 

because of benefits or inducements offered by a developer which are not necessary 
to make the development acceptable in planning terms.  

 
20.3 Further to this, and taking adopted policy requirements into consideration, the 

proposed scheme produces the need for the following obligations which it is 
considered meet the legal tests: 

 
• provision of 15% affordable housing; 
• £816,000- improvements to M62 Junction 28 with a 10% uplift provision; 
• £87,000 – improvements to A650/Common Lane; and 
• £111,000 – improvements to A650/A6029 Rein Road. 
• Travel Plan Fund £148,005 

 
20.4 This development will be liable to the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). 

Consideration of where any Strategic Fund CIL money is spent rests with the 
Council’s Executive Board and will be decided with reference to the Regulation 123 
list (or Infrastructure Funding Statement as the case may be) at the time that 
decision is made. 

Page 60



 
21.0 CONCLUSION 
 
21.1 As discussed above, the principle of the development for 299 dwellings on this site is 

supported by the up to date Local Plan and the adopted SAP. That the proposal is in 
accordance with the existing site allocations should be afforded very significant weight 
in consideration and determination of the application.   

 
21.2 The development will provide an acceptable quantum of affordable housing, and is 

capable of delivering diverse and accessible dwellings that will provide an adequate 
standard of residential amenity (mitigation measures identified). The application will 
provide safe access, and provides for mitigation measures to improve the existing 
highway network.  

 
21.3 Although the development will result in the loss of some green infrastructure, the 

Ecological Assessment that has been carried out does indicate the opportunities that 
exist to improve the rural setting and enhance biodiversity of the wider area through a 
long term enhancement and management plan.  

 
21.4 It is considered that the principle of developing the site for residential purposes is 

acceptable in terms of all local and national planning policies subject to the imposition 
of conditions and a legal agreement relating to the enhancement/ management of the 
wider green/ open spaces, together with the provision of affordable housing and 
highways improvement contributions. With consideration being given to all other 
matters, the application is recommended for approval.  

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 61



PAGE INTENTIALLY LEFT BLANK 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 62



APPENDIX 2 

HG2-168: 
 

 
 
 
HG2-169 
 

 

APPENDIX 3 
Page 63



SA Scores of Publication Draft Sites within the OSW HMCA 
 

 

Page 64



CITY  PLANS PANEL
© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100019567
 PRODUCED BY CITY DEVELOPMENT, GIS MAPPING & DATA TEAM, LEEDS CITY COUNCIL °SCALE : 1/4500

17/08262/OT

Page 65



P
age 66


	Agenda
	6 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	8 Application No.17/08262/OT - Outline planning application for a residential development with all matters reserved save for the two principle accesses off Westerton Road and Haigh Moor Road, (but not to include access within the site), three points of access at Upper Green Avenue, Sandringham Drive and Hill Top Lane, associated works, public open space provision and accessibility and qualitative improvements to local greenspace at land off Haigh Moor Road and Westerton Road, West Ardsley, Leeds, WF3.
	17-08262-OT - Haigh Wood Final Report v6
	7.24 The Inspectors were clear that the allocated SAP sites are in sustainable allocations. Paragraph 109 of the Inspectors Report states:
	Driven by the CS guiding principles, the key factors were identified.  An appropriate selection of potential sites was assessed.  The reasons for selecting the preferred sites and rejecting others is ….sufficiently clear.  The overall process represen...

	17-08262-OT
	17-08262-OT Masterplan Haigh Moor


